
 
 
 
 
A Meeting of the CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held at the Civic 
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BNon 
TUESDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2016 AT 7.00 PM 
 
 
 

 
Andy Couldrick 
Chief Executive 
Published on 15 February 2016 
 
 
 
 
This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website. 

 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control. 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Our Priorities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

The Underpinning Principles 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Deliver quality in all that we do 

Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and 

fuel efficiency 

Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life 

Look after the vulnerable 

Provide affordable homes 

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax 

Improve the customer experience when accessing Council 
services 

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough 

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and 

supported by well designed development 

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social 
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business 

growth 

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child 

achieving their potential 

Our Vision 
A great place to live, an even better place to do business 



 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 
Councillors  

Pauline Helliar-Symons 
(Chairman) 

Shahid Younis (Vice-
Chairman) 

Laura Blumenthal 

Chris Bowring Lindsay Ferris Ken Miall 
Bill Soane Alison Swaddle  

 
Substitutes 

Prue Bray Tom McCann Malcolm Richards 
Bob Wyatt   

 
Parent Governor Representatives 
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative 
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative 
 
Diocesan Representatives 
Vacancy, Roman Catholic Representative 
Vacancy, C of E Representative 
 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

WARD SUBJECT 
PAGE 
NO. 

    
71.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

    
72.    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 
December 2015. 

5 - 10 

    
73.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

    
74.    PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

To answer any public questions 
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of 
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.  
 
The Council welcomes questions from members of the 
public about the work of this committee. 
 
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the 
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for 
submitting questions please contact the Democratic 
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions 

 

    

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


 

75.    MEMBER QUESTION TIME 
To answer any member questions 

 

    
76.    CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS 
To receive an update on the Children’s Services 
performance measured by local indicators. 

11 - 20 

    
77.    CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE AND 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
To receive and consider a report containing 
performance management information as observed by 
Ofsted. 

21 - 34 

    
78.    OFSTED FINDINGS 

To receive and consider a report containing the Ofsted 
findings following the inspection to WBC Children’s 
Services in November 2015. 

35 - 86 

    
79.    CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY FORWARD PROGRAMME 
To receive and consider the forward programme of the 
Committee. 

87 - 92 

    
80.    DELIVERING EFFECTIVE SAFEGUARDING 

SERVICES 
To receive an update on the recruitment and retention 
strategy. (Part 2 sheets) 

93 - 102 

   
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any 
other items to consider under this heading 

 

 
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

The Committee may exclude the public in order to discuss the Part 2 sheets above and to 
do so it must pass a resolution in the following terms:  
 
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act as appropriate.  

 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 
Luciane Bowker Democratic Services Officerk 
Tel 0118 974 6091 
Email luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 



 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE  
CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 15 DECEMBER 2015 FROM 7.00 PM TO 8.45 PM 
 
Committee Members Present 
Councillors:  Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman), Shahid Younis (Vice-Chairman), 
Laura Blumenthal, Lindsay Ferris, Malcolm Richards (substituting Ken Miall) and 
Bob Wyatt (substituting Alison Swaddle)  
 
Other Councillors Present 
Councillors: Keith Baker and Ian Pittock  
 
Officers Present 
Luciane Bowker, Democratic Services Officer 
Andy Couldrick, Chief Executive 
Brian Grady, Head of Strategic Commissioning 
Alan Stubbersfield, Interim Assistant Director Learning and Achievement 
 
 
107. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were submitted from Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Ken Miall, Alison 
Swaddle, Judith Ramsden and Felicity Budgen. 
 
108. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 27 October 2015 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
109. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
There were no declarations of interest submitted. 
 
110. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
There were no public questions.  
 
111. MEMBER QUESTION TIME  
There were no Member questions.  
 
112. INDEPENDENT REVIEW OF LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE  
The Committee considered the independent review of leadership and governance report 
which was set out on agenda pages 13-46. The Chairman explained that the review had 
been requested by Members and supported by Officers as it was felt that it would be 
useful to receive the views from an outside person. 
 
During the discussion of the item the following points were made: 
 

 The report had been generally positive and confirmed the views of Officers, it reported 
on the strength of leadership and governance and made a series of recommendations 
that would be picked up alongside the action plan to be developed following the recent 
inspection by Ofsted; 

 Councillor Blumenthal asked if the relevant people were sufficiently trained and able to 
deal with the child sexual exploitation in the form of social media and technology.  
Members and Officers expressed concern and anxiety around this issue, it was felt 

5

Agenda Item 72.



 

that more should be done to help parents and teachers to be better prepared to protect 
children from harm in the form of social media and technology; 

 Brian Grady, Head of Strategic Commissioning, stated that schools were working with 
parents and the Council did run sessions to help parents and teachers; Members 
asked to be sent the information relating to the current training programme on social 
media and technology that was available for parents;   

 Brian Grady stated that there was a dedicated child sexual exploitation group who 
were looking into the issue of social media and technology; 

 Councillor Wyatt enquired about the lack of whistleblowing in Wokingham.  Officers 
informed that there were many ways this could be done, including the staff survey and 
there was no evidence that people were intimidated and unable to raise concerns; 

 Councillor Baker stated that he felt the recommendations of the report were 
reasonable and fair, some had already been worked on; 

 Andy Couldrick, Chief Executive, pointed out that it was important not to become 
complacent because Wokingham was generally a safe area as compared to other 
places, it was vital to keep alert to risks; 

 Officers stated that the report gave the service the reassurance it was seeking when 
expecting the Ofsted inspection; it was recognised that front line management was not 
as strong as it could be; 

 Andy Couldrick stated that this report set alongside the Ofsted report and that they 
complemented each other. Andy noted that this report had a political attachment to it 
whereas the Ofsted report didn’t; 

 Andy Couldrick explained that the Ofsted inspection attracted more attention from the 
public and therefore it would be the report that would be used as PR for the Council; 

 
RESOLVED That: 
1) Information regarding the current training programme on social media and technology 

for parents and teachers be circulated to Members; 
2) The Committee noted the report and its findings and endorsed the plans to put 

together an action plan in conjunction with the action plan from the Ofsted report; 
3) The Committee would continue to monitor both action plans. 
 
113. DELIVERING EFFECTIVE SAFEGUARDING SERVICES  
The Committee considered the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) update report 
which was set out on agenda pages 47- 48. Brian Grady and Linda York representing 
Thames Valley Police presented the report and answered questions.   
 
Brian Grady stated that good progress was being made and all was in place for the 
implementation to go ahead in March – April time. There was a strategic and operational 
group in place taking the project forward.  Brian emphasized that there were four areas of 
work that were being considered: information sharing agreement; accommodation; staffing 
and business processes.  
 
Brian Grady explained that information sharing was a critical element and this had now 
been established.  The Police, Wokingham Borough Council and Health had signed up to 
this agreement, the final agency to sing on was with colleagues in Probation and a date in 
December had been agreed for this. 
 
Brian Grady informed that the accommodation had been agreed and it would be at Shute 
End without significant cost implications.  A floor plan had been drawn up to begin to 
decide where the teams would sit, this would be finalised by 1 January 2016. 
 

6



 

Brian Grady reported that staffing was progressing but still needed some work as the 
structure needed to be designed and agreed with colleagues at the Police. Linda York 
stated that three posts had been recruited and timescales for training were going to be 
agreed in January. Linda felt confident that the training would be available for all in time for 
MASH to go live on 1 April 2016. 
 
It was noted that business processes were progressing well, there was a sub group 
working on this element to ensure that these were consistent with our internal workings 
and with those of the Police.  Workshops would be set up during January 2016 with key 
colleagues testing the system and the processes.  The current best practice was going to 
be incorporated to meet the signs of safety methodology where appropriate. 
 
In response to a question Brian Grady stated that there were risks surrounding information 
sharing in terms of security.  Also, it was noted that MASH in itself would not provide 
safeguarding, it was important to be aware of its limitations. 
 
Linda York clarified that the Domestic Abuse Risk Assessor that had been appointed as 
mentioned in the report was a specific new post for MASH. 
 
Members were informed that domestic abuse had been increasing over the last few years; 
it was believed that this was a result of people feeling more confident to report it and not 
because of an actual increase in abuse. Linda York stated that it was impossible to be 
absolutely certain if there had been a real increase in numbers.  Brian Grady informed that 
the Local Safeguarding Board had been investigating this issue. 
 
The Chairman, councillor Helliar-Symons asked that the name of the MASH programme 
manager be revealed once this appointment was officialised. 
 
Members were interested to know if projects such as MASH were happening in other local 
authorities in the country.  Andy Couldrick explained that Wokingham Borough was not a 
pioneer; the majority of other local authorities already had similar projects in various 
shapes and forms in place.  Andy believed this was a good position to be in as it was 
possible to learn from other local authorities’ experiences. 
 
Linda York stated that the model of working in Berkshire was standardised and this 
enabled more resilience from the Police point of view. 
 
Linda York informed that a performance management framework would be issued in the 
future; it was possible that numbers would go up as a result of ‘hidden harm’ information 
becoming available.  It was hoped that early and effective intervention would reduce 
instances of crime and it was important to have a strategy in place. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Officers involved in the project for keeping the Committee 
updated on the development of MASH. 
 
RESOLVED That: The Committee noted the update report on MASH. 
 
114. CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
The Committee received the Children’s Services performance indicators report as set out 
on page numbers 49-58.  Brian tabled a briefing indicator target setting rationale 15/16 to 
complement the information contained in the report. 
 

7



 

The Committee went through the report and during the analysis the following comments 
were made: 

 The red indicator relating to % care proceeding completed in 15/16 within 26 weeks of 
application had occurred due to factors outside of Wokingham Borough Council’s 
control; 

 Members were reassured that there was regular monitoring of Looked After Children’s 
attendance and performance at school; however Andy Couldrick pointed out that there 
was a range of factors and experiences that influenced LAC achievements at school 
and not just truancy; 

 Andy Couldrick stated that he had received a letter from central government asking 
Wokingham Borough Council to help with asylum seekers; unfortunately the financial 
model offered by the government did not make it currently viable for Wokingham. 

 
RESOLVED That:  The report be noted.  
 
115. PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACE STRATEGY  
Councillor Ian Pittock gave the Committee a verbal update on the Primary School Place 
Strategy.  Ian stated that the report had not been ready to be submitted to the November 
Executive as previously expected, it was now going to be submitted to the January 
meeting.  Ian explained that a task and finish group had been established to try and find a 
solution to the problems arising in March when parents in specific areas in the Borough 
were not offered school places at their preferred schools.  The task and finish group had 
identified demographic changes which resulted in more children applying for places than 
expected.  The review would propose to increase the number of school places from 
September 2016-2017 in the Woodley and Shinfield areas.  
 
In response to a question Brian Grady stated that the increase in school places would 
include places in Year 1 as well as reception places.  
 
The Chairman commended the work undertaken by the task and finish group, particularly 
as it had involved the parents in the community. 
 
RESOLVED That:  The report be noted.   
 
116. SCHOOLS PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND OFSTED REPORTS  
The Committee considered the school performance report which was set out on agenda 
pages 59-68.  The report included the Ofsted reports relating to St Dominic Savio Catholic 
Primary and St Nicholas Church of England Primary. 
 
During the discussion of the item the following points were made: 
 
Relating to St Dominic Savio: 

 Officers informed that it was not clear how many ‘outstanding’  items were necessary 
in order to achieve the overall outstanding rating by Ofsted; 

 Alan Stubbersfield informed that there was an expectation that indoor and outdoor play 
areas should provide learning opportunities, for example having access to crayons 
near the sand pit; 

 Members questioned the reference to ‘pupils develop an extremely strong 
understanding of British values’ on page 61 and what this meant.  Officers believed 
this referred to children not being liable to radicalisation, however it seemed that 
teachers were not clear as to what this was meant to achieve; 

8



 

 Councillor Younis reported that his daughter had attended St Dominic Savio and he 
was confident this was a good school with very dedicated teachers; 

 The Chairman pointed out to the positive references to the governors’ involvement 
with the school.  The Chairman mentioned the work of the review of governing 
services task and finish group and how it had positively influenced governing services. 

 
Relating to St Nicholas: 

 It was noted that the Ofsted report addressed the Headteacher personally.  Officers 
informed that the Headteacher had started this term and had already made a positive 
impact on the school;  

 Members were informed that the Headteacher was very engaged with parents; 

 Members agreed that for a school to perform well a strong leadership team was 
crucial; 

 Members were informed that it was the Council’s practice to send schools a letter of 
recognition following positive Ofsted inspections. 

 
RESOLVED That:  the report be noted. 
 
117. COMMITTEE'S FORWARD PROGRAMME  
The Committee agreed to the items listed in the forward programme report for its next 
meeting on 23 February 2016.  No further items were added to the forward programme. 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

TITLE Children’s Services Performance Indicators 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on  23 February 2016 
  
WARD None Specific 
  
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR Judith Ramsden, Strategic Director of Children’s 

Services  
 

 

 
OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
 
Children’s Services performance indicators underpin the council’s priorities and 
principles to focus on every child reaching their potential and looking after the 
vulnerable. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Children’s Service performance indicators be noted. 
 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
The timing of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee means that the latest indicators 
available for formal reporting this cycle are the Quarterly indicators reported at the end 
of December 2015. 
 

 
 
Background 
 
A set of information on performance indicators is provided to the Corporate Leadership 
Team and the Executive on a regular basis. The most recent report, providing 
information for Children’s Services covering the quarter to December 2015, is provided 
as Appendix A to this report. 
 
Analysis of Issues 
 
Two indicators were reported red and two indicators were reported amber in Quarter 3.  
 
Following a data release by the DfE, we now know that the percentage of 
disadvantaged pupils at Wokingham schools achieving level 4 or above at Key Stage 2 
in 2015 was 62%. In comparison, 88% of all other pupils at Wokingham schools 
achieved level 4 or above. This means a gap of 26%, which is above the statistical 
neighbour gap of 18.7% and also above our target of a 20% gap or lower. This is one of 
two red indicators in Quarter 3. 
 

11

Agenda Item 76.



 

The second red indicator is the percentage of children who are currently subject to a 
Child Protection Plan (CPP) who are subject to a CPP for a second or subsequent time 
within 24 months.  Quarter 3 performance was 14% against a target of 3 – 7%, which 
was due to significant changes in the circumstances of two families. 
 
The percentage of looked after children living within 20 miles of their home was 67.5% 
in Quarter 3; an improvement from 64.3% in Quarter 2. Despite this improvement, this 
indicator has been downgraded from green to amber due to the incorrect rating being 
applied in Quarter 2. 
 
The second amber indicator is the percentage of Secondary Schools with a current 
Ofsted rating of “good” or better. There has been no change in performance from 
Quarter 2, and the indicator remains at 89%. There is one Secondary school which has 
been judged by Ofsted as requiring improvement. It is a recently established free school 
which is reported to be on a positive improvement trajectory. 
 
Finally, following a further data release by the DfE, we now know that the percentage of 
disadvantaged pupils at Wokingham schools achieving 5 or more GCSEs at grades A*-
C (including English and maths) in 2015 was 41.5%.  The percentage of all other pupils 
at Wokingham schools achieving the same was 71.6%, which means a gap of 30%.  
This compares favourably to our statistical neighbours’ gap of 31.8%, and ensures the 
target of a 30% gap or lower was met. This indicator is rated green. 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a 
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and 
subsequent reductions to public sector funding.  It is estimated that 
Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in 
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should 
be made in this context. 
 
 

 How much 
will it Cost/ 
(Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding  
– if not quantify the 
Shortfall  

Revenue or Capital? 

Current 
Financial Year 
(Year 1) 

Not 
applicable 

  

Next Financial 
Year (Year 2) 

Not 
applicable 

  

Following 
Financial Year 
(Year 3) 

Not 
applicable 

  

 
Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 
None 
 

12



 

Cross-Council Implications  
n/a 
 
List of Background Papers 
None 
 
Contact  Brian Grady Service  Children’s Services 
Telephone No  0118 974 6055 Email  

Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk  
Date  20th November 2015 Version No. 1 
 

13

mailto:Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Community 
 
 
   

 
Page 1 of 5 

PROTECTIVE MARKING: UNCLASSIFIED 

 Look after vulnerable people 
 

 Key Indicators 
Indicator Target 14/15 

Actual 
15/16 
Qtr. 3 
Actual 

Compar
ative 
info. 

RAG  Direction 
of Travel 
 

Strategic 
Director / 
Executive 
Member  

Commentary 

% referrals in 15/16 which are 
repeat referrals within 12 
months of a previous referral to 
Children’s Social Care 

18 -
22% 

21.3% 22.1% 21.7% 
(14/15 
Stat 
N’bour) 
 

Green  Worse 
 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

Our Early Help service is often offered 
following an initial assessment. If this work is 
not successful, the family will be re-referred to 
Social Care for further work, therefore 
impacting on our numbers. This indicator is 
closely scrutinised by senior managers. 
 

% Children who are currently 
subject to a Child Protection 
Plan (CPP) who are subject to a 
CPP for a second or subsequent 
time within 24 months 

3 – 7% 12.0% 14.0% 18.3% 
(14/15 
Stat 
N’bour) 
 

Red  Worse 
 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

This relates to 2 families (6 children) whereby 
their circumstances changed significantly. Due 
to the small number of children on CP plans 
this had a great impact on percentages. 
 

% Care Proceedings completed 
in 15/16 within 26 weeks of 
application 

100%  42%  100% N/A Green  Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

 

  

15



Community 
 
 
   

 
Page 2 of 5 

PROTECTIVE MARKING: UNCLASSIFIED 

Indicator Target 14/15 
Actual 

15/16 
Qtr. 3 
Actual 

Compa
rative 
info. 

RAG  Direction 
of Travel 
(Better/ 
Worse/ No 
change) 

Strategic 
Director / 
Executive 
Member  

Commentary 

% Looked After Children living 
within 20 miles of their home 
 
(Green – above target; 
Amber – above 50% with confidence 
in improved picture; Red – anything 
else) 

70 – 
75% 
 

62.2% 67.5% National 
data 
relates 
only to 
children 
becomin
g looked 
after in 
period – 
14/15 
76% 
(78% 
WBC) 

 

Amber Better 
 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

This is an improving picture, and the number of 
children in care placed under 20 miles from home 
remains in line with that of other South East 
authorities. Wokingham has 67.5% of its children 
placed within 20 miles of home compared to a 
statistical neighbour average of 67.3%, the SE average 
of 70%, and the national average of 77.1%. 
An alternate indicator – LAC placed within 20 miles of 
the west of Berkshire – gives a broader picture of the 
proximity of children to their home. This 
demonstrates that 73% live no further than 2 miles 
from the west of Berkshire boarder, and this too was 
an improving picture (73% in Q3 compared to 69% in 
Q2). 

% Looked After Children who 
achieved permanent care 
arrangements during  previous 
12 months 

Over 
30% 

40.2% 47.7% N/A – 
this is a 
local 
indicator 

Green Better  
 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

 

16



Workforce   

 

 
Page 3 of 5 

PROTECTIVE MARKING: UNCLASSIFIED 

 Improve educational attainment and focus on every child achieving their potential 
 Key Indicators 
Indicator Target 14/15 

Actual 
15/16 Qtr. 
3 Actual 

Comparati
ve info. 

RAG Directi
on of 
Travel 
 

Strategic 
Director / 
Executive 
Member  

Commentary 

Reduce the education gap at 
KS2 level 4 between 
disadvantaged and other pupils 
for Reading, Writing and Maths 

20% 
gap or 
lower 

Summer 
2014 
Other 87% 
Disadvant 
65%      Gap 
22% 

Summer 
2015 
Other 88% 
Disadv 62% 
Gap 26% 

Summer 
2015 
Statistical 
Neighbours 
Other 
85.7% 
Disadvanta
ged  67% 
Gap 18.7% 
 

 

Red  
Worse 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

After success in 2014, performance gaps 
widened again in 2015 at Key Stage2, although 
more schools improved individually than 
worsened.  Across the key stages: EYFS gaps 
continued to narrow; KS1 achieved a negative 
gap at the key level 2b; KS2 gaps widened for 
the majority (level 4) but not for higher 
attaining (L5) pupils; KS4 FSM pupils achieved 
higher than national.  Following this 
inconsistent success, our focus in Key Stage 2 
will be on a more discriminating curriculum 
pitch focused on next steps in more sharply 
differentiated ways.   

Reduce the education gap at 
KS4 level 4 between 
disadvantaged and other pupils 
for 5 A*-C GCSE incl E&M 

30% 
Gap or 
lower 

Summer 
2014 
Other 70.6% 
Disad 36.8%      
Gap 33.8% 

Summer 
2015 
Other 
71.6% 
Disad 
41.5%  
Gap 30% 

2015 
Statistical 
Neighbours 
Other 
68.55% 
Disadvanta
ged  
36.72%  
Gap 
31.83% 

Green Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

 

17



Workforce   

 

 
Page 4 of 5 

PROTECTIVE MARKING: UNCLASSIFIED 

Indicator Target 14/15 
Actual 

15/16 Qtr. 
3 Actual 

Comparati
ve info. 

RAG Directi
on of 
Travel 
(Better
/ 
Worse/ 
No 
change
) 

Strategic 
Director / 
Executive 
Member  

Commentary 

% Primary Schools with a 
current Ofsted Rating of 
“good” or better. 

88% 83% 85% 82% 
National 
(31st 
March 
2015) 
 

Green Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

Improvements following school 
inspections have been positive. The 
rate of inspections which is beyond our 
control has slowed thus reducing the 
rate of improvement. 

% Secondary Schools with a 
current Ofsted rating of “good” 
or better. 
(Green = target met, 
Amber = above 80%, 
Red = below 80%) 

100% 
 

89% 89% 73% 
National 
(31st 
March 
2015) 

Amber No 
Change 

Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

There is one school which requires 
improvement. All others are good or 
outstanding. The RI school is a recently 
established free school which is 
reported to be on a positive 
improvement trajectory. 

% Children who attend at 
Wokingham school who are at 
a school with an Ofsted rating 
of “good” or better. 

90% 88%  89% No 
comparativ
e data 

Green Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

 

18



Workforce   

 

 
Page 5 of 5 

PROTECTIVE MARKING: UNCLASSIFIED 

Indicator Target 14/15 
Actual 

15/16 Qtr. 
3 Actual 

Comparati
ve info. 

RAG Directi
on of 
Travel 
(Better
/ 
Worse/ 
No 
change
) 

Strategic 
Director / 
Executive 
Member  

Commentary 

% Pupils achieving a good level 
of development (GLD) at Early 
Years Foundation Stage in 
academic year 14-15. 

Increas
e 

Summer 
2014    
 
61% 

Summer 
2015 
 
71% 

Summer 
2015 -
National 
66.3% 

Green  Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

A second year of strong improvement, 
resulting in part from a LA focus on 
writing in Early Years. 
 

 % Disadvantaged pupils 
achieving a good level of 
development at Early Years 
Foundation Stage in academic 
year 14-15 

Increas
ed 
attainm
ent & 
reduce
d gap 

Summer 
2014 
Other 62% 
Disadvant 
35%      Gap 
27% 

Summer 
2015 
Other 71%  
FSM 50% 

Gap 21% 

Summer 
2015 – 
National 
51% 

Green Better Judith 
Ramsden/ 
Charlotte 
Haitham 
Taylor 

A very positive narrowing of the 
performance gap in a context of overall 
improvement. 
 

 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

TITLE Briefing: Children’s Services Performance and 
Management Information 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 23rd February 2016 
  
WARD None Specific 
  
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR Judith Ramsden, Strategic Director of Children’s 

Services  
 

 

 
OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
 
Provision of robust performance and management information is essential to ensure that 
we understand our services well and that the support we provide is resulting in positive 
outcomes for all vulnerable children and families in Wokingham Borough. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Committee notes the refreshed approach to performance management, 
informed by Ofsted observations, and the proposed performance indicators for 2016/17.  
 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
The recently published report of the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s 
Services and Review of the LSCB highlighted areas where services provided are 
producing positive impacts for vulnerable children and areas where improvement is 
needed to achieve the best possible outcomes for our children.  
 
The report’s findings were in line with our own self-assessment of services which was 
informed by a range of performance and quality assurance insight.  
 
Ofsted noted that the performance management system itself could be improved to 
facilitate better understanding by middle management of service strengths and 
weaknesses. 
 
This report outlines the variety of performance information provided at various levels in 
the Authority which informed our self-assessment and presents a range of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) to support an improved performance management 
framework for 16/17. 

 
The purpose of this report is to set out the wider context and conversational insight 
gained from working with Ofsted. 
  
The report of the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services and Review of 
the LSCB was published in January 2016 and provided recommendations in line with 

21

Agenda Item 77.



 

our own very strong self-assessment of service provision and understanding of positive 
and negative performance, a key requirement of a good leadership and management 
model.  
 
Our self-assessment was informed by a range of performance and quality assurance 
information provided at various levels in the organisation mapped in the document 
provided in Annex A against positive aspects and areas for improvement taken from the 
Ofsted Inspection report. Performance information is presented and considered 
throughout the Council, with reports to Executive, Lead Member, Corporate Parenting 
Board, Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, Corporate Leadership team, Children’s 
Services Leadership team as well as Children’s Overview and Scrutiny.  Annex A sets 
out which performance indicators go to which audience, along with the frequency.  A 
variety of different indicators are used at different levels based on what the key priorities 
for performance are in each forum. 
 
For corporate performance reporting, which informs the main performance reporting for 
Children’s Overview and Scrutiny, KPIs have been established and agreed by members 
based on the Council Plan and priorities. Other KPIs are reported to Children’s 
Overview and Scrutiny on a regular basis through a set of reports as set out in Annex 
A.  
 
Quality assurance activity complements our KPIs to inform our understanding of quality 
and the formal routes for reporting on Quality Assurance include Children’s Overview 
and Scrutiny. Our self-assessment process is part of this formal reporting on our 
performance.  
 
What Ofsted helped us to see was that the system itself is not user friendly and the 
middle management team needed more support to embed the use of management 
information and analysis in order to understand how performance and quality assurance 
information can be used to identify deficits in performance and improve services and 
outcomes for children and families 
 
A refreshed approach to performance management has been developed and is currently 
being piloted in Services, to be fully embedded from 1st April 2016. 
 
We have established a list of proposed KPIs for 16/17 with benchmarking information 
and rationale for target setting. This new proposed KPI set is a key output of the work to 
refresh the approach to performance management. Performance against indicators 
selected from this set will be reported at various levels in the organisation as appropriate 
to support challenge and scrutiny of service provision.   
 
Attachments: 
 
Annex A: Mapping of Ofsted Findings to KPIs Reported at Various Levels in the 
Authority. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a 
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and 
subsequent reductions to public sector funding.  It is estimated that 

22



 

Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in 
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should 
be made in this context. 
 

 How much 
will it Cost/ 
(Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding  
– if not quantify the 
Shortfall  

Revenue or Capital? 

Current 
Financial Year 
(Year 1) 

Not 
applicable 

  

Next Financial 
Year (Year 2) 

Not 
applicable 

  

Following 
Financial Year 
(Year 3) 

Not 
applicable 

  

 
Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 
None 
 
Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council 
services and priorities?) 
n/a 
 
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2 
n/a 
 
List of Background Papers 
None 
 
Contact  Brian Grady Service  Children’s Services 
Telephone No  0118 974 6055 Email  

Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk  
Date  12th February 2016 Version No. 1 
 

23

mailto:Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Leadership & Governance   

Positive Statements   

The leadership and governance arrangements in 
Wokingham are robust and effective and 
demonstrate many elements of good. 
 

KPI: All key performance indicators are a 
window into Leadership performance. These 
include  

 Corporate reporting against core KPIs 

 Corporate Parenting Board self-
assessment 

 Children’s Services self-assessment on 
22/09/2015. 

 Independent Leadership review 
commissioned and reported Summer 
2015  

Performance is also reported through Executive, Lead Member,  
Corporate Parenting Board, Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, 
Corporate Leadership team, Children’s Services Leadership team  

The senior leadership team in Wokingham has a 
clear vision for service improvement and many of 
the essential components are in place to ensure 
further progress. 
 

Senior leaders have been instrumental in 
effectively pursuing opportunities to secure 
additional funding through government-funded 
innovations and collaborative working 
arrangements. Adopt Berkshire and Signs of Safety 
innovations project are two positive examples. 
 

KPI: Signs of Safety Innovations programme 
progress is reported quarterly in the Corporate 
KPIs to Management overview and Scrutiny and 
Executive committee.  
Signs of Safety Innovation programme updates 
are reported regularly to Children’s Overview and 
Scrutiny committee. 

Performance is also reported through Executive (corporate KI 
project updates), Lead Member,  Corporate Parenting Board, Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board, Corporate Leadership team, 
Children’s Services Leadership team 

A robust workforce strategy has begun to reduce a 
previously heavy reliance on agency workers 
 

Reported to CS Overview & Scrutiny on 
21/07/15: 
KPI: % Staff turnover 
KPI: % employed staff 
KPI: % agency staff 
KPI: % vacant roles 

Quarterly reports on HR presented to: 

 CSLT 

 Lead Member 

 LSCB 

Annex A: Mapping of Ofsted 

Findings to KPIs 

25



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Staff have good access to training and are 
committed and positive about working for 
Wokingham 
 

KPI: Annual workforce satisfaction survey 
(discussed at Corporate Works Council in 
September 2015) 
Other KPIs: Innovation programme staff 
satisfaction reporting quarterly. 
 

Innovation programme reporting quarterly to Lead Member,  
Corporate Parenting Board, Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, 
Corporate Leadership team, Children’s Services Leadership team 

Areas for improvement  

First and second line management, which are vital, 
are not sufficiently rigorous in challenging, 
monitoring and driving social work practice to 
ensure that all services for children and young 
people are good. 
 

KPI: Complaints report 
KPI: % Care proceedings completed within 26 
weeks  
CPB and CS Self-Assessment reported to CS 
Overview & Scrutiny on 22/09/15 contained KPIs 
on: 

 Timeliness of Child Protection & 
Children in Care visits  

 Caseloads 

 Numbers per team  
 
New KPI proposed: Percentage of Social Workers 
Receiving Supervision at least once a month 
 

Team reporting has been in place for the past year and identified 
good performance on Caseloads and Numbers of children per 
team and performance concern on the timeliness of Child 
Protection & Children in Care visits.  
 
Quality Improvement Plan reported at CSLT level and LSCB quality 
assures practice and identified quality improvement priorities The quality of practice remains variable and is not 

consistently good. Inspectors found that weak 
management oversight and supervision were 
common features in too many cases. Ensuring 
robust case supervision, management oversight 
and decision making by first and second line 
managers is crucial to improving social work 
practice and improving outcomes for children and 
young people in Wokingham. 
 

Joint commissioning of children’s services is under-
developed, although some key areas have been 
agreed as strategic priorities between partners. 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services are 
not sufficient to support all the needs of children 
looked after and care leavers with direct support 
or intervention. 
 

New KPI proposed: Time in days from Referral to 
CAMHS Services to initial appointment for 
children who are subject of a Child Protection 
Plan 
New KPI proposed: Children in Care: Time in 
days from Referral to CAMHS Services to initial 
appointment. 

Performance is also reported through Corporate Parenting Board, 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. 
Performance reporting against Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
strategy action plan is reported to Health and Wellbeing Board 

26



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

In a small minority of cases, delays in holding 
strategy discussions and instigating child 
protection procedures resulted in children 
remaining in situations of unassessed risk. 
 

Quality assurance identified this through audit 
and was in our self-assessment reported to 
CSO&S on  
22/09/2015 
 
 
 

A new local indicator has been designed to ensure that strategy 
discussions are timely, and risks to children of delays are 
minimised. 
 
 
 

Assessments and planning processes for unborn 
babies and children under the age of three years 
are not sufficiently robust. 
 

 A plan is in place to address this with a new assessment being 
implemented alongside refreshed processes and training for 
practitioners.  This will be accompanied by a KPI to closely monitor 
that actions are producing positive outcomes for young children 
and unborn babies. The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board has 
been asked to lead an analysis of the pattern in assessments for 
unborn children and children under the age of three.  

Multiple changes in social workers and managers 
has contributed to drift and delay in implementing 
plans to support some children and has affected 
children’s ability to sustain positive relationships 
with adults. 
 

New KPI proposed: Number & % of Children in 
Need who have had more than 1 allocated Social 
Worker. (excluding change of social worker when 
the child is transferred from DT&A to area 
teams). 
New KPI proposed: Number & %  of Children on 
a Child Protection Plan who have had more than 
1 allocated Social Worker (excluding change of 
social worker when the child is transferred from 
DT&A to area teams). 
New KPI proposed: Number & % of Children in 
Care who have had more than 1 allocated Social 
Worker (excluding change of social worker when 
child is transferred from DT&A to area teams). 

A new indicator has been designed to monitor number of changes 
in social worker and the new performance management process 
will require specific actions to be put in place should there be 
performance issues. 

27



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Transition planning begins too late for disabled 
children. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New KPI proposed: All children who currently are 
in receipt of Children's Services who will require 
adult services have a transition plan in place by 
the age of 14 

Is being addressed as part of the action plan following inspection 
with a project now in place to review transition processes and 
procedures with appropriate KPIs in place to monitor transition 
planning performance. 
 

Children who need Help and Protection 
 

  

Positive Statements   

In the vast majority of cases, children and young 
people in need of help and protection receive an 
effective and prompt response from the duty, 
assessment and triage team. 
 

 
 

  

Thresholds for services are clear, understood and 
applied effectively in most cases. 
 

When referrals do not meet the threshold for 
children’s social care, the early help hub, overseen 
by a social work manager, is ensuring that 
appropriate services are in place to support 
children and their families. 
 

The domestic abuse repeat incident management 
group provides an effective arena for additional 
multi-agency scrutiny and risk assessment. 
 

28



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Most children are seen and seen alone by social 
workers, and benefit from direct work using a 
range of tools to explore their experiences and 
perceptions. 
 
 

Children Looked After & Care Leavers   

Positive Statements   

When children need to be looked after by the local 
authority, decisions in the majority of cases are 
prompt and appropriate. 
 

KPI: Percentage of Care Proceedings completed 
in 15/16 within 26 weeks of application – already 
reported to O&S and Executive. 

Local quality assurance work through case audits is routinely used 
by service managers to ensure learning is embedded in practice. 
 
 

The virtual school has made significant progress in 
improving support to children looked after, 
including improved personal education plans. 
 

 Existing KPI: % Eligible LAC with a Recent PEP – currently reported 
to CSLT (monthly) and Corporate Parenting Board (quarterly) 
 
This monitors the existence of a PEP for each eligible child in care, 
while quality assurance audits the quality of PEPs. 
 

29



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Placement stability for children looked after is 
good. The local authority appropriately considers 
placement of children looked after within their 
wider family and has encouraged and enabled the 
use of special guardianship orders. Arrangements 
to enable children to live with their foster carers 
after their 18th birthday are established and 
working well. 

Percentage of children who have had 3 or more 
placements in current year – Currently reported 
to SMT, CSLT and Corporate parenting board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Placement stability is monitored through the existing KPI: % 
children who have had 3 or more placements in current year. 
 
This is reported monthly at Children’s Services Leadership Team. 

Areas for Improvement   

There are, however, delays in considering plans for 
children’s permanence.  
 

New KPIs Proposed: 
% Children in Care who achieved permanent care 
arrangements during the previous 12 months. 
% current LAC who are not in permanent care 
arrangements who have a plan for permanency 
 

Adoption scorecard gives an understanding of timeliness of 
permanence and is reported to Corporate Parenting Board.  

Life story work for children looked after is under-
developed. 
 

 The Ofsted Action Plan details the action being taken to address 
this concern. 

30



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

The quality and support to care leavers varies, 
with some not receiving the frequency of visiting 
they require or the level of help they need to 
develop independent living skills. 
 

 The CiC Council meets monthly, and issues raised will feed into the 
quarterly Corporate Parenting Board meetings. 
 
The Pledge Survey, for CiC and Care Leavers, is completed 
annually. The results of this are shared at Corporate Parenting 
Board. 
 
Weekly Management reports include information about the 
frequency of Care Leaver Visits and monitoring of the frequency of 
Pathway Plans and if we are ‘in touch’ with our Care Leaver cohort. 
 

Adoption & Fostering   

Positive Statements   

Children for whom the plan is adoption receive a 
good service, with adoption plans pursued for all 
children who would benefit from it. Fostering to 
adopt is considered appropriately to avoid delay. 
Post-adoption support services are strong. 
 

KPI: % Children in Care who achieved permanent 
care arrangements during the previous 12 
months – already reported quarterly to CS O&S. 

Adoption scorecard will be reported 2 times a year via CPB. 

A good choice of accommodation is available to 
meet the needs of care leavers with the vast 
majority living in suitable accommodation. 
 

 The annual SSDA 903 return to the DfE formally captures the 
accommodation status of care leavers. This is reported to CSLT for 
sign off. 
 
Existing KPI: % Care Leavers who are Not in Education, 
Employment or Training. Reported quarterly to CSLT. 

The local authority is in touch with all their care 
leavers. 
 

 

31



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Children looked after are able to have their voice 
heard and are well represented through the 
Children in Care council, with strong involvement 
with corporate parents. 
 
 
 
 

 The CiC Council meets monthly, and issues raised will feed into the 
quarterly Corporate Parenting Board meetings. 
 
The Pledge Survey, for CiC and Care Leavers, is completed 
annually. The results of this are shared at Corporate Parenting 
Board. 

Areas for Improvement   

There are insufficient local foster carers, despite 
extensive efforts to recruit more. As a result, 
almost half of children looked after are placed 
more than 20 miles from home. 
 

KPI:  % LAC living within 20 miles of their home 
already reported to Executive, O&S, SMT, CSLT 
and Corporate Parenting Board  
 
New KPI proposed: % LAC living within 20 miles 
of Berkshire West in a fostering placement 
New KPI proposed: % LAC Living within 20 miles 
of Berkshire West NOT in a fostering placement 
 

The Ofsted Action Plan details the actions being taken to address 
this concern. 

CSE 
 

  

Positive Statements   

Good progress has been made to tackle child 
sexual exploitation, with a multi-agency 
operational forum ensuring that information is 
effectively shared and children at risk of child 
sexual exploitation are identified and robustly 
assessed. Extensive awareness-raising has taken 
place with children in both primary and secondary 
schools. 
 
 
 
 

 Children at Risk of Child Sexual Exploitation monitored monthly 
by CSE Panel. This is an in-depth look at each child, assessing their 
level of risk and action required, rather than a performance 
indicator. 
 

32



 
 

 
Comments from Ofsted 
 

 
Maps to which key Performance Indicators  

 
Other Monitoring 

Areas for Improvement   

When children return after going missing, return 
interviews are not completed promptly enough 
and information from interviews is not collated to 
identify pattern and trends. 
 

New KPI proposed: % return home interviews on 
time  
New KPI proposed: timely % of return home 
interview offers taken up by young people 
 

Children Missing from Home/Care – Currently reported to SMT 
and CSLT 
Timeliness of Return Home Assessments Carried Out for Each 
Child - Currently reported to SMT and CSLT 
 

 

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
TITLE Ofsted Report 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 23 February 2016 
  
WARD None Specific 
  
DIRECTOR Judith Ramsden, Director of Children’s Services 
 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
 
Regulator report testing effectiveness of social work and early help services.  Inspection 
assists improvement work. 
  

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Committee note the report. 

 

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 

None 

 

Cross-Council Implications  

None 

 

List of Background Papers 

Quarter 3 2015/16 Staffing Analysis 

 

Contact  Felicity Budgen Service  Children’s Service 

Telephone No  0118 974 6480 Email  felicity.budgen@wokingham.gov.uk 

Date  23rd February 2016 Version No.   

 

35

Agenda Item 78.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 1 

Wokingham  
Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and 

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1  

Inspection date: 12 October 2015 – 5 November 2015 

Report published: 5 January 2016 

Children’s services in Wokingham require improvement to be 
good  

 
 

1. Children who need help and protection Requires improvement 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement 

 
2.1 Adoption performance Good 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Requires improvement 

3. Leadership, management and governance Requires improvement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                           

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of 

the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local 
authority functions carried out under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the 

report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out under the Local 

Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

37



 

 

   
 

2 

 
 
 

Executive summary 

Children’s services in Wokingham require improvement to be good. The leadership 
and governance arrangements in Wokingham are robust and effective and 
demonstrate many elements of good. However, first and second line management, 
which are vital, are not sufficiently rigorous in challenging, monitoring and driving 
social work practice to ensure that all services for children and young people are 
good. 
 
The senior leadership team in Wokingham has a clear vision for service improvement 
and many of the essential components are in place to ensure further progress. 
Inspectors did not find serious or widespread concerns in the experiences of children 
and young people. However, the quality of practice remains variable and is not 
consistently good. Inspectors found that weak management oversight and 
supervision were common features in too many cases. Ensuring robust case 
supervision, management oversight and decision making by first and second line 
managers is crucial to improving social work practice and improving outcomes for 
children and young people in Wokingham.   
   
Improvements achieved since the last inspection of child protection services in 2012, 
and safeguarding and looked after services in 2010, include well-coordinated services 
that provide targeted and specialist help at an early stage, reduced caseloads, early 
signs of the workforce stabilising and good adoption services. Senior leaders have 
been instrumental in effectively pursuing opportunities to secure additional funding 
through government-funded innovations and collaborative working arrangements. 
Adopt Berkshire and Signs of Safety innovations project are two positive examples. 
 
A robust workforce strategy has begun to reduce a previously heavy reliance on 
agency workers, but a legacy of high turnover among social workers and managers 
has impacted on the quality of social work practice, management oversight and the 
timely progression of care plans. Staff have good access to training and are 
committed and positive about working for Wokingham. Performance information and 
quality assurance systems are under-developed and not sufficient to provide a clear 
picture of practice and to identify where action needs to address shortfalls and drive 
up performance. Joint commissioning of children’s services is under-developed, 
although some key areas have been agreed as strategic priorities between partners.  
 
In the vast majority of cases, children and young people in need of help and 
protection receive an effective and prompt response from the duty, assessment and 
triage team. Thresholds for services are clear, understood and applied effectively in 
most cases. In a small minority of cases, delays in holding strategy discussions and 
instigating child protection procedures resulted in children remaining in situations of 
unassessed risk. When referrals do not meet the threshold for children’s social care, 
the early help hub, overseen by a social work manager, is ensuring that appropriate 
services are in place to support children and their families. The domestic abuse 
repeat incident management group provides an effective arena for additional multi-

38



 

 

 3 

agency scrutiny and risk assessment. 
Where the Signs of Safety model is used to assess children’s needs, there is an 
emphasis on risk factors and children are central to the assessment. Where it is not 
used, assessments are too adult-focused and overly optimistic, leading to drift and 
delay for some children. Assessments and planning processes for unborn babies and 
children under the age of three years are not sufficiently robust. Most children are 
seen and seen alone by social workers, and benefit from direct work using a range of 
tools to explore their experiences and perceptions. However, children do not always 
know how to contact their social worker or receive a prompt response when they do. 
Transition planning begins too late for disabled children. 
 
When children need to be looked after by the local authority, decisions in the 
majority of cases are prompt and appropriate. There are, however, delays in 
considering plans for children’s permanence. Foster carers are well supported but do 
not always receive the written decisions from children looked after reviews quickly 
enough. Work with partner agencies is not always effectively coordinated by social 
workers and their managers. There are insufficient local foster carers, despite 
extensive efforts to recruit more. As a result, almost half of children looked after are 
placed more than 20 miles from home. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
are not sufficient to support all the needs of children looked after and care leavers 
with direct support or intervention. Life story work for children looked after is under-
developed.  
 
The virtual school has made significant progress in improving support to children 
looked after, including improved personal education plans. Placement stability for 
children looked after is good. The local authority appropriately considers placement 
of children looked after within their wider family and has encouraged and enabled 
the use of special guardianship orders. Arrangements to enable children to live with 
their foster carers after their 18th birthday are established and working well. Children 
for whom the plan is adoption receive a good service, with adoption plans pursued 
for all children who would benefit from it. Fostering to adopt is considered 
appropriately to avoid delay. Post-adoption support services are strong.  
 
The quality and support to care leavers varies, with some not receiving the frequency 
of visiting they require or the level of help they need to develop independent living 
skills. A good choice of accommodation is available to meet the needs of care leavers 
with the vast majority living in suitable accommodation. The local authority is in 
touch with all their care leavers. Children looked after are able to have their voice 
heard and are well represented through the Children in Care council, with strong 
involvement with corporate parents.  
 
Good progress has been made to tackle child sexual exploitation, with a multi-agency 
operational forum ensuring that information is effectively shared and children at risk 
of child sexual exploitation are identified and robustly assessed. Extensive 
awareness-raising has taken place with children in both primary and secondary 
schools. However, when children return after going missing, return interviews are 
not completed promptly enough and information from interviews is not collated to 
identify pattern and trends.  

39



 

 

   
 

4 

Contents 
            

Executive summary 2 

The local authority 5 

Information about this local authority area 5 

Recommendations 7 

Summary for children and young people 9 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection 10 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence 16 

Leadership, management and governance 28 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 34 

Executive summary 34 

Recommendations 35 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 35 

Information about this inspection 40 

 
 
 

  

40



 

 

 5 

The local authority 

Information about this local authority area2 

Previous Ofsted inspections 

 The local authority operates one children’s home. It was judged to be 
outstanding at its most recent Ofsted inspection. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s arrangements for the protection of 
children was in November 2012. The local authority was judged to be adequate. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s services for children looked after 
was in July 2010. The local authority was judged to be adequate.  

Local leadership  

 The Director of Children’s Services has been in post since February 2014. 

 The chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) has been in post since 
September 2014.  

Children living in this area 

 Approximately 36,497 children and young people under the age of 18 years live 
in Wokingham. This is 23% of the total population in the area. 

 Approximately 7% of the local authority’s children are living in poverty. 

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 5% (the national average is 17%) 

 in secondary schools is 5% (the national average is 15%). 

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 18% of all 
children living in the area compared with 22% in the country as a whole. 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area are 
Asian/Asian British and Mixed.  

 The proportion of children and young people with English as an additional 
language: 

 in primary schools is 14% (the national average is 19%).  

 in secondary schools is 13% (the national average is 14%). 

 There is a large settled Gypsy, Roma and Traveller population, some of whom are 
still travelling. There is also a newer Eastern European population resident in the 
area.  

                                           

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 

with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

41



 

 

   
 

6 

Child protection in this area 

 At 12 October 2015, 523 children had been identified through assessment as 
being formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is a reduction from 
541 at 31 March 2014. 

 At 12 October 2015, 67 children and young people were the subject of a child 
protection plan. This is a reduction from 95 at 31 March 2014. 

 At 12 October 2015, one child lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. 
This is an increase from none at 31 March 2014. 

 Since the last inspection, one serious incident notification has been submitted to 
Ofsted. No serious case reviews have been completed or were ongoing at the 
time of the inspection. 

Children looked after in this area 

 At 12 October 2015, 69 children were being looked after by the local authority (a 
rate of 20 per 10,000 children). This is a reduction from 75 (20 per 10,000 
children) at 31 March 2014. Of this number: 

 52 (or 75.3%) live outside the local authority area 

 two live in residential children’s homes, of whom 100% live out of the 
authority area 

 seven live in residential special schools3, of whom 100% live out of the 
authority area 

 53 live with foster families, of whom 74% live out of the authority area 

 none lives with parents  

 two children are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 In the last 12 months: 

 there have been two adoptions 

 two children became subject of special guardianship orders 

 34 children ceased to be looked after, of whom three (9%) subsequently 
returned to be looked after 

 two children and young people ceased to be looked after and moved on 
to independent living 

 one young person ceased to be looked after and is now living in a house 
of multiple occupation.  

 The local authority uses Signs of Safety as their social work model for child 
intervention work. 

                                           

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or fewer per year. 

42



 

 

 7 

 

Recommendations 

 

1. Monitor and improve the frequency and quality of management oversight 
and supervision to all staff to ensure that they are regular, reflective and 
challenging and focused on ensuring good outcomes for children with 
rationale for decisions made clearly recorded (pages 13, 31, paragraphs 19, 
94). 

2. Improve the quality of casework audits, practice development tools and 
performance management information. Ensure that it is used effectively by 
managers to improve the quality of social work practice (page 32, paragraph 
95). 

3. Accelerate the implementation of the joint local authority and clinical 
commissioning group emotional health strategy to ensure better and quicker 
access to emotional and mental health support for children and young people 
(page 21, paragraph 53). 

4. With partners, ensure that there is an effective integrated service pathway 
for all children and for young people in transition (pages 15, 26, paragraphs 
27, 76). 

5. Improve the quality of assessments and plans by: 

 ensuring that assessments include consideration of absent significant 
adults (page 13, paragraph 20) 

 ensuring that assessments are of a consistently good standard, 
supported by good analysis of risks and protective factors (page 13, 
paragraph 20) 

 ensuring that they consider and reflect equality and diversity factors 
(page 13, paragraph 21). 

6. Put in place a pre-birth protocol and improve the assessment of vulnerable 
unborn babies and their families (page 13, paragraph 20). 

7. Ensure that when a child goes missing from home or care, a timely return 
visit is completed and information from interviews is collated and analysed to 
inform service delivery (pages 15, 21, paragraphs 28, 51). 

8. Ensure that strategy discussions include all relevant agencies (page 13, 
paragraph 18). 

9. Ensure that children looked after can contact their social workers and that 
they receive prompt response to contacts (page 20, paragraph 46). 

10. Ensure that early permanence planning is in place for all children (page 19, 
paragraph 38). 

43



 

 

   
 

8 

11. Ensure that care plans and actions agreed at reviews for children looked 
after are promptly disseminated and carried out and that work with partner 
agencies is effectively coordinated by social workers and their managers 
(page 23, paragraph 62). 

12. Improve the quality of services to care leavers by ensuring that: 

 visits to care leavers are purposeful and visiting frequency is according to 
their individual needs (page 26, paragraph 76) 

 care leavers have access to opportunities to gain good quality 
independence skills (page 26, paragraph 75). 

 
  

44



 

 

 9 

Summary for children and young people 

 
 Inspectors found that services for children and young people in Wokingham 

require improvement to be good. Managers know what they need to do and plans 
are already in place to make most of the improvements that are needed. 

 Social workers act quickly when children and young people need help and 
protection.  

 Managers do not always make decisions quickly enough or pay attention to the 
progress or what needs to happen next for all children. This means that some 
social workers are not sure what they have to do and some children wait too long 
for support. 

 Children and young people are listened to and the majority meet with their social 
workers regularly, but not all know how to contact them when they need to. 

 Some children and young people have had too many different social workers. 
This makes it hard for them to get to know and trust their social workers.  

 Families, children and young people are able to get the support they need when 
they are facing difficult problems. This helps them to make positive changes that 
improve their lives.  

 Wokingham does not have enough local foster carers. This means children and 
young people live too far away, which makes seeing their family and friends 
difficult. 

 Plans for children and young people who are in care or are care leavers vary. 
Some children and young people are not clear about what should happen, who is 
going to do it and by when. Planning for the future, especially for disabled 
children, does not take place soon enough or include what would happen if things 
do not work out. 

 Most care leavers report that they feel well supported by their personal advisers. 
Opportunities for care leavers to remain living with their foster carers until they 
are ready to leave are successfully encouraged.   

 Nearly all children looked after go to good schools and most attend well. Schools 
are well supported by the virtual school team to do their best for children looked 
after.    

 Permanent families are not always found quickly enough for some children who 
cannot continue to live with their own families.  

 When children need help to understand their life stories, this has not happened 
quickly enough.  

 When children need to be adopted, this happens quickly. Children and their 
adoptive parents are well supported. 

 

45



 

 

   
 

10 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and protection 

Requires improvement  

Summary 

The local authority knows that it needs to improve and develop frontline 
management oversight in order to effectively challenge the variability of social work 
practice. Nevertheless, children and young people who are in need of help and 
protection are identified and swift action is taken to make sure they are safe. 
Strategy discussions mean that correct decisions are made when there are concerns 
about risks to children, but they do not always involve all the appropriate people. 

Children and young people benefit from effective early help and specialist services. 
Staff across the partnership are trained in Signs of Safety. This is ensuring that 
children across all age groups and their families benefit from appropriate help at the 
right time to reduce escalation of concerns. Skilled multi-disciplinary staff in the 
family resource team provide interventions that are making a difference to children’s 
lives and preventing family breakdown.  

The quality of assessments varies greatly, with particular weaknesses in the 
assessments of unborn and younger children. Where the Signs of Safety model is 
used, assessments are robust, identify risks and include safety plans.  

Social workers use a range of tools to understand children’s experiences. This helps 
social workers to build relationships with children. However, multiple changes in 
social workers and managers has contributed to drift and delay in implementing 
plans to support some children and has affected children’s ability to sustain positive 
relationships with adults. 

Effective multi-agency arrangements are in place for identifying and monitoring 
children and young people missing from home and care and those at risk of sexual 
exploitation. However, return interviews for children who go missing are not 
completed quickly enough and information from interviews is not analysed to form a 
picture of patterns and trends.  

A specialist team works with disabled children and provides appropriate child-focused 
work from skilled practitioners. Co-located services enable timely access to early 
help. Transition arrangements to adult services need to be strengthened to ensure 
collaborative early planning. 

Effective arrangements are in place for young people aged 16 to 17 years who 
become homeless. 

 

 
  

46



 

 

 11 

Inspection findings 

13. Children and young people in Wokingham benefit from a range of well-
coordinated services that provide targeted and specialist help, underpinned 
by a coherent multi-agency ‘early help innovation’ strategy. There is good 
partnership working and full commitment to developing the Signs of Safety 
model. Appropriate training is in place for all partners who are involved in 
supporting children and young people who need early help.   

14. The local authority has continued to invest in a good range of effective and 
targeted youth support services as part of its early help offer. Skilled multi-
disciplinary staff in the family resource team (FRT), children’s centres and 
youth workers provide interventions that are making a positive difference to 
children’s lives. Youth workers provide effective support for young people 
who need targeted short-term support to help them develop positive skills 
and behaviours. For example, some well-focused work with young people in 
danger of exclusion from school through misuse of drugs has helped them to 
remain in mainstream education. 

15. A recently refreshed threshold of need document is understood and 
effectively applied by agencies and practitioners. The early help triage 
provides a clear pathway to early help services. The early help hub, 
established in August 2014, provides robust multi-agency consideration of 
the most appropriate early help support for children and their families. A 
well-coordinated weekly multi-agency meeting gives timely consideration to 
all requests and promptly identifies the most relevant agency to support the 
family. Good oversight from the referral coordinator helps to determine 
progress for children and young people from the time of the referral. 
Between June 2014 and June 2015, 1,412 children and young people 
received early help services, delivered directly with either the child or young 
person or through family-based interventions designed to improve outcomes 
for those children. The local authority’s own data show that 61% children 
had improved outcomes as a result of this intervention.  

16. The majority of early help assessments sampled during the inspection were 
good. Recent assessments, which used a new format developed as part of 
the work to introduce the Signs of Safety, were particularly good. In a small 
number of cases, assessments required improvement due to poor recording 
of the voice of the child, delay from initial contact to assessment and delayed 
provision of parenting courses. Step-up and step-down processes are 
effectively ensuring that children and their families get help at the right time 
and right level.  

17. ‘Troubled families’ work in Wokingham has been positive in achieving results. 
By May 2015, 110 (100%) troubled families identified had been worked with 
and their circumstances improved. Phase two has been launched and the 
target of identifying 60 families out of a group of 350 has been achieved. 

18. Children and young people who are at risk of actual or likely harm are 
appropriately identified and responded to by the duty assessment and triage 
team. The response to concerns and the provision of services is timely and 

47



 

 

   
 

12 

appropriate. In most cases, risk is reduced effectively. Efficient arrangements 
are in place to respond to requests to children’s services for information and 
advice. Referral coordinators receive contacts and referrals overseen by 
experienced and suitably qualified social work staff. An experienced, qualified 
manager undertakes all decisions in the team effectively. Parental consent is 
appropriately sought before carrying out agency checks. In most cases seen 
by inspectors, the use of the Signs of Safety model has resulted in a greater 
clarity of risk and need, ensuring that the right interventions are in place.  

19. When child protection referrals lead to strategy discussions, they generally 
take place between police and social care only. This means that information 
from other agencies is not always available to inform decision-making. The 
local authority, in partnership with police and other partners, has started to 
address this. Quality standards have been agreed and the associated training 
days secured, although it is too early to evidence impact of these changes. 
The recording of strategy discussions is variable, with some lacking historical 
information. This compromises opportunities to fully understand risks to 
children and young people. In a small number of cases referred to the local 
authority, delays in holding strategy discussions resulted in children being 
left in situations of unassessed risk. By contrast, strategy meetings observed 
by inspectors were prompt, with appropriate agencies present. Managers 
chaired the meetings well. They resulted in good-quality decisions and 
subsequent work that was focused on risk and the needs of children.  

20. While management decision-making and oversight of casework is evident in 
the majority of cases seen in the duty assessment and triage team, practice 
in the long-term neighbourhood teams is weak. Management oversight is 
documented on children’s case files. However, the frequency, quality and 
rationale for decisions made is insufficient, with some having significant gaps 
in case records. This means that previous actions are not robustly reviewed 
for their completion or effectiveness and management direction is not 
available to social workers when risks to children increase.   

21. Chronologies are available and maintained in most cases, although the 
quality is variable. More recent chronologies are good and have been used 
effectively to inform assessments. The quality of assessments varies greatly. 
In nearly all assessments, the voice of the child was present and their wishes 
known. However, the majority required improvement, as they failed to 
assess the impact of fathers and other significant males in children’s lives, 
and were overly optimistic in parental motivation to change. In particular, 
the assessments of unborn and younger children lacked sufficient analysis of 
risk to inform effective planning.  

22. Issues of equality and diversity such as ethnicity, sexual orientation and faith 
are commented on but the impact is not sufficiently considered within 
assessments and plans. 

23. Social workers are knowledgeable about the children they are working with. 
Children are visited and seen alone frequently. Social workers use a range of 
tools to understand children’s experiences. This helps social workers to build 

48



 

 

 13 

relationships with children. However, frequent changes of social workers 
hamper this work and have contributed to drift in meeting the needs of some 
children promptly.  

24. Child protection conferences and reviews of child protection plans are timely 
and attended by an appropriate range of agencies. Most social work reports 
for initial child protection conferences provide a good assessment of risk and 
protective factors, leading to appropriate decisions. However, reports 
prepared for review child protection conferences are not always timely and 
vary in quality, resulting in poor planning for a small number of children. 
Where practice falls below standards required by the local authority, child 
protection chairs take effective action to compensate or escalate to 
responsible managers.  

25. Wokingham independent reviewing officers (IROs) also chair child protection 
conferences. They have manageable caseloads that include both children 
looked after and those subject to child protection plans. Inspectors observed 
effectively and sensitively chaired conferences, with participants’ views 
sought and good engagement with parents. Parents and young people report 
that they are clear why professionals are worried and what they need to 
change. Overall, child protection plans identify the appropriate action that is 
needed to reduce risk and meet children’s identified needs, but not all 
actions are specific and measurable.  

26. A commissioned service provides advocacy support to 28 children and young 
people to attend conferences and ensure that their views are captured. Core 
groups and children in need meetings are held within or close to timescales 
set by child protection plans, and reviewed regularly. They measure progress 
against actions effectively. Business support staff comprehensively record the 
minutes from meetings. This is a valuable resource and ensures that actions 
and plans arising from meetings are readily available to social workers, 
children and young people, parents and professionals involved.  

27. Children’s social care and police have a good, shared understanding of the 
risks to children from domestic abuse. This understanding is set out with a 
clear range of actions in an up-to-date domestic abuse strategy, sponsored 
by the Community Safety Partnership and the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board. Robust arrangements for the screening of domestic abuse 
notifications are in place. The domestic abuse triage – involving staff from 
children’s social care, a voluntary organisation working with women who 
suffer from domestic abuse, and the police – meet daily to effectively 
prioritise referrals. Multi-agency risk assessment conferences (MARAC) 
enable an effective coordinated multi-agency response and approach to risk 
in relation to children living in households where there is domestic abuse. 
The domestic abuse repeat incident management (DARIM) group adds 
additional multi-agency scrutiny and risk assessment. This proactive 
approach provides earlier coordinated intervention to lower-level repeat 
domestic abuse cases that do not meet the MARAC threshold. Cases are 
escalated effectively and access to a good range of services is available. 
Case sampling demonstrated good information-sharing, shared analysis and 

49



 

 

   
 

14 

robust action to secure the safety and well-being of children. The domestic 
abuse strategy is comprehensive and includes female genital mutilation as a 
form of abuse, although Wokingham’s known prevalence rates are low. 

28. A specialist team works with disabled children and provides appropriate 
child-focused work from skilled practitioners. Co-located services enable 
timely access to early help. For example, the ‘Bridges’ team provides a range 
of short breaks and outreach services to young people with learning 
difficulties. However, transition planning to adult services begins too late for 
disabled young people, with some not being assessed by adult services until 
they are almost 18. These arrangements need to be stronger to ensure 
collaborative early planning with adult services for young people with 
complex needs.  

29. The arrangements for responding to the needs of children and young people 
who go missing have been strengthened, with an operational panel in place 
and a commissioned service providing independent return interviews. Staff 
make contact with all children and young people who go missing to offer a 
return interview. The team received 22 referrals between July and 
September 2015. Of these, only one young person was visited within 72 
hours. A further 14 children declined an interview despite persistent efforts 
to engage them. In cases sampled by inspectors, interviews included the 
views of young people and an analysis of risk. Return interviews completed 
by individual social workers were timelier. The local authority is now taking 
effective action to improve the timeliness of return interviews for all young 
people.  

30. Children missing education are carefully monitored and tracked. Of the 66 
children who have been missing from education over the last academic year, 
only 27 have periods of missed education during the current term which is a 
significant improvement. Managers are notified by schools when a child 
misses education and timely checks are made with appropriate agencies. 
Plans are in place to improve the links between children missing education 
and children missing from home panels, which has the potential to improve 
the scrutiny of those absent from school. 

31. The multi-agency child sexual exploitation and missing persons operational 
group meets monthly. Management oversight and assurance is secured 
through a child sexual exploitation strategic and operational governance 
structure shared jointly and co-chaired between children’s social care and the 
police with regular reporting to the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board. 
There is effective alignment to the early help hub and the children missing 
from education panel. Panel members routinely review individual children’s 
circumstances and the levels of risk they are exposed to. Rigorous scrutiny of 
information is used to plan and to provide services designed to reduce risks. 

32. At the time of the inspection, the child sexual exploitation panel was 
monitoring six children. Cases reviewed by inspectors demonstrated 
interventions were proportionate to the assessed risk. The numbers have 
remained low and are in keeping with the profile of the local authority. The 

50



 

 

 15 

prevalence of risk is predominantly from lone offenders targeting adolescent 
girls through social media and through friendship groups. Child sexual 
exploitation champions are actively disseminating good practice and available 
to social workers for consultation. Members of the champions group are 
piloting a revised assessment tool to assist in the assessment, analysis and 
planning for young people deemed to be at risk.  

33. The local authority maintains a list of children and young people who are 
electively home educated (EHE). Currently, 77 young people are EHE. 
Appropriate agencies checks are completed to identify any concerns. To 
date, 57 children and young people have been visited at home to ensure the 
appropriateness of their education. There are plans in place to visit the 
remaining 20 children. A very small minority of EHE children are known to 
children’s social care. Nine children have started or resumed mainstream 
education because of the constructive support provided by the local 
authority. Only one child out of 29 who are in alternative educational 
provision is looked after. The majority of children who are in alternative 
provision are there because of medical issues. Plans are in place for all to 
return to full-time education. 

34. The emergency duty service (EDS) is effective and shared with six 
neighbouring unitary authorities across Berkshire. It has sufficient capacity to 
respond to all children who need help and protection out of hours. In the 
cases seen by inspectors, the EDS had responded well, with appropriate 
direct intervention with families, clear and timely decision-making and 
prompt two-way communication with daytime services.  

35. Arrangements for responding to allegations about risk presented by adults in 
a position of trust in relation to children are satisfactory. The recently 
appointed designated officer initiates action appropriately in respect of such 
allegations, in accordance with established systems. Cases seen by 
inspectors demonstrate a good response, with prompt and appropriate steps 
taken to protect children and active follow-up to ensure that outcomes for 
children are good.  

36. The local authority received no notifications of known or suspected private 
fostering arrangements between 2011 and 2014. In the last year, 
considerable efforts have been made to sharpen inter-agency awareness of 
children and young people who are privately fostered. At the time of the 
inspection, a small number of children were living in a private fostering 
arrangement, having had an assessment that was thorough and culturally 
sensitive, with a plan of support to both child and carer. Robust 
arrangements are in place to review private fostering arrangements. Children 
living under private fostering arrangements are reviewed every six months 
by an IRO. This provides additional scrutiny to such arrangements. 

37. Effective arrangements are in place for young people aged 16 to 17 years 
who become homeless. Good collaborative arrangements with the 
Wokingham housing service mean that assessments take place swiftly and 
appropriately. When necessary, young people become looked after or 
appropriate accommodation is provided.  51



 

 

   
 

16 

 

The experiences and progress of 
children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement  

Summary 

Outcomes for children looked after in Wokingham are not yet good because services 
are not consistently meeting the needs of all children.  

Effective action is taken to ensure that children and young people looked after are 
promptly supported and there is no delay in progressing matters through the courts. 
However, permanence planning has not been considered at an early enough stage. 
This has led to drift and delay for some children and young people. 

Some children looked after and care leavers seen by inspectors reported poor 
experiences with their social workers. Overall, they did not feel that social workers 
respected or listened to their views. They felt that social workers often did not keep 
their word or keep appointments made with them. The legacy of difficulties in 
recruiting and retaining social workers and managers for children looked after has 
adversely impacted on the consistency and quality of work, the progression of care 
plans and the ability of children looked after to form trusting relationships with social 
workers. The local authority has worked hard to stabilise the workforce, which is 
beginning to reduce the number of changes of social workers children experience. 

Overall, the educational needs of children looked after are well supported. However, 
until recently, their health needs have not been promptly assessed or reviewed and 
they do not always receive prompt support for their emotional health. 

The local authority’s foster carers are well supported. However, the number of local 
carers is insufficient, despite extensive efforts to recruit more. As a result, almost 
half of children looked after are placed more than 20 miles from home. This 
adversely impacts on their contact, relationships and travel time. 

When children go missing from care, return home interviews are not completed 
quickly enough to understand the child’s experience and to reduce the risk of further 
missing incidents. 

Children looked after are able to have their voice heard, and are well represented 
through the Children in Care council, with strong involvement of corporate parents. 

Adoption is appropriately considered as a permanent option for all children who 
cannot live with their birth family. There is a good range of post-adoption support to 
meet children’s needs. 

The quality of pathway planning for care leavers is too variable, with some plans not 
sufficiently outcome-focused or providing enough detail about who will do what, and 
by when. Care leavers would benefit from greater levels of support through more 
frequent visiting from their personal advisers. 

 

52



 

 

 17 

Inspection findings 

38. At the time of the inspection, the local authority was looking after 69 
children. Thresholds for entry to care are applied appropriately in almost all 
cases. There were no cases seen where children had been put into care 
inappropriately. In most cases where children were looked after on a 
voluntary basis, this was appropriate. However, during this inspection, the 
local authority had to take legal advice to ensure that the care status of two 
children was secure. 

39. Undue delay in considering permanence planning has negatively impacted on 
too many children and young people looked after and their ability to have a 
clear understanding of what is likely to happen to them. It also means that 
care plans are not as effective as they should be in securing permanence as 
soon as possible. This has been recognised by the local authority, which in 
June 2015 established a permanence planning panel. The panel is 
systematically reviewing children looked after cases to ensure that the 
permanence planning is robust. This focus has ensured that permanence 
planning for those children received into care in recent months is now more 
robust.   

40. In the few cases where children were looked after with plans to return home 
from care, all demonstrated careful planning supported by assessments, with 
review arrangements in place and appropriate continuation of plans after 
care. 

41. Children’s cases that are subject to letters before action, the pre-proceedings 
phase of the public law outline (PLO), are regularly reviewed. Letters before 
action are clear, stipulating the concerns and the actions required by 
parents/carers and by when. Tracking meetings between managers and the 
local authority’s legal services provide robust oversight. The local authority 
engages effectively with the local courts and is an active participant in the 
work of the Local Family Justice Board. This has enabled cases to progress 
through the courts without undue delay, with an average for the area of 30 
weeks in 2015. However, this does not meet the national requirement of 26 
weeks. The local authority with advice from the legal team has reviewed all 
children who are looked after on a voluntary basis to ensure that these do 
not warrant intervention through the courts; all were assessed to be 
appropriately accommodated under section 20 of the Children Act 1989. 
While aware of the changes in social workers in some cases, the courts had 
not experienced any negative impact of this on timetabling or the quality of 
social work in the courts.  

42. The local authority considers placement of children looked after within the 
wider family appropriately, and has encouraged and enabled the use of 
special guardianship orders. During 2013–14, 10 special guardianship orders 
were achieved, but in 2014–15, only two were achieved. The local authority 
is reviewing relevant children, through the permanence panel, to ensure that 
special guardianship orders are consistently considered. 

53



 

 

   
 

18 

43. Assessments of children looked after are regularly updated in almost all 
cases and contain a clear analysis of issues affecting them and their needs. 
However, some assessments lacked detail or were insufficiently focused on 
the immediate needs of that young person. Assessments did not consistently 
consider diversity issues for children looked after. This was stronger where 
diversity issues were prominent, such as for disabled children, where those 
needs were thoroughly assessed and taken into account in case planning.  

44. Work with children looked after between reviews was not consistently well 
coordinated. Those cases that were good had effective joint working to 
further the care plan, but others showed a lack of coordination and failure to 
share information or fully involve all relevant agencies, which impacted 
negatively on how plans were progressed. This was exacerbated where there 
had been changes in social workers. 

45. Overall, social workers visit children looked after regularly and see them 
alone where appropriate. However, in some cases, the purpose of the visit 
was primarily to meet minimum visiting requirements, with little evidence of 
purposeful direct work. Children and foster carers who met with inspectors 
confirmed this. In a small number of cases, where children had moved 
placement, minimum visiting standards set by the local authority had not 
been met. This was because of social workers not being clear about the 
required frequency of visits. This was identified and addressed by managers. 

46. Social work caseloads for children looked after are manageable. This enables 
them to undertake direct work including life story work. However, a number 
of children looked after, foster carers and IROs have voiced the need for life 
story work for children and young people who have not received it. Despite 
being well resourced, with manageable caseloads, high turnover among 
social workers and managers for children looked after has impacted 
adversely on the consistency and quality of practice, management oversight 
and the timely progression of care plans. This also negatively impacted on 
the relationships that social workers were able to establish with young 
people, their carers and families.  

47. Children looked after and care leavers seen by inspectors said they did not 
feel that social workers always respected or listened to their views. They felt 
that social workers often did not keep their word or keep appointments 
made with them. They gave many examples of trying to contact their social 
workers, but not receiving a response. They expressed particular concern 
about frequent changes of social worker and that often social workers did 
not inform them directly or say goodbye to them when they left or changed 
roles. The local authority has made significant progress in stabilising the 
workforce and has more recently successfully reduced the number of 
changes of social workers for children looked after. However, some children 
looked after are still affected by the legacy of previous workforce instability. 

48. Young people value the support from advocates, with 42 children and young 
people looked after being supported by this arrangement.  

54



 

 

 19 

49. Reviews for children looked after are timely and are well attended by the 
appropriate range of agencies. The meetings are well structured and chaired 
to ensure that information is considered in all key areas affecting the young 
person. Overall, plans are clear, with updated measurable outcomes, and 
they include the views of young people. However, not all had actions that 
were specific and measurable. Some showed drift in permanence planning or 
contingency planning, with not all actions completed in a timely way. Some 
plans were too vague or lacked clarity or detail.  

50. Contact arrangements between children looked after and their families were 
clear, with due consideration of safeguarding issues. However, young people 
seen by inspectors reported that they seldom understood the reasons for 
their contact arrangements. ‘Strengths and difficulties’ questionnaires are 
completed in most cases but are not consistently used to maximise planning 
for children looked after. For example, they are not routinely shared with 
health partners to inform health assessments. 

51. The small team of permanent IROs demonstrates a robust understanding of 
how effectively the needs of children looked after are met. They meet 
regularly with children and with social workers in and outside of reviews and 
maintain the same reviewing officer, where possible, to provide consistency 
for the young person. Where practice falls below required standards, IROs 
initially use informal methods to address these. Where this does not resolve 
the matter, appropriate use of dispute resolution notifications is made.  

52. A commissioned service undertakes return interviews following incidents of 
children and young people going missing. However, the interviews are not 
timely and the take-up by children and young people is low. Between July 
and September 2015, 14 children out of 22 referrals received by the service 
declined an interview and only one was within 72 hours of the child returning 
from a missing episode. As a result, important information is not captured 
and the risk of repeat episodes is not reduced. Inspectors saw more timely 
return interviews where individual social workers had completed them. The 
Pan Berkshire child sexual exploitation indicator tool is used to identify and 
assess risk. Cases seen by inspectors demonstrated clear risk assessments 
and issues being presented to the child sexual exploitation and missing 
operational panel.  

53. The health needs of children looked after have not been consistently 
addressed. Initial and review health assessments were significantly delayed 
between March 2014 and May 2015 as a result of staffing issues in the small 
looked after children health team. This has recently improved, with all health 
assessments being brought up to date at the time of this inspection.  

54. Children looked after are prioritised by local Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) for assessment. However, few are provided with 
direct support or intervention. CAMHS do provide advice and guidance to 
children looked after’s social workers and foster carers, which is greatly 
valued, and all expressed a need for much more therapeutic support to 
address the complex emotional and behavioural needs of the looked after 
young people. Where CAMHS intervention is not available, alternative 55



 

 

   
 

20 

bespoke therapeutic provision is commissioned by the local authority. The 
local authority and its partners were developing the range of emotional and 
mental health provision for children and young people at the time of 
inspection.  

55. Following re-launch in April 2015, the virtual school has made significant 
progress in improving support to the educational needs of children looked 
after. Key improvements include improved personal education plans (PEPs) 
that are reviewed and updated for every child on at least a termly basis. A 
member of the virtual school team attends every PEP meeting. Plans that are 
more recent are of better quality. Further improvement is required in the 
analysis of the impact of the Pupil Premium on improving progress. 

56. The vast majority of children looked after are in good or better schools. The 
three children in schools that require improvement are carefully monitored to 
ensure that they get the support they need, where broader permanence 
factors outweigh the benefits of moving them to a good school. 

57. The educational attainment gap between children looked after and all 
children is closing at Key Stage 4. Half of the small number of children at this 
level achieved at least five GCSEs at grades A* to C, including English and 
mathematics, which is well over twice the national rate for children looked 
after. Just over half of children looked after have identified special 
educational needs. Overall, the majority of children looked after make 
expected or better progress, although those in Key Stage 2 do not do as well 
as others.  

58. Sufficiency of local placements is a priority for the local authority. A clear and 
detailed sufficiency strategy to meet the placement needs for children looked 
after and care leavers for 2014 to 2017 has been reviewed. However, despite 
the extensive and wide-ranging campaigns in recent years, the local 
authority has not achieved its own targets for the recruitment of local foster 
carers and supported lodgings for care leavers. Efforts to recruit local carers 
were being renewed at the time of this inspection.   

59. In the past 18 months, the local authority has renewed efforts to place 
children looked after more locally and within 20 miles of the area. This has 
resulted in around half of children looked after being placed closer to home. 
While every effort is made to ensure that the needs of those young people 
are promptly met, the distances have a negative impact on the ability of 
those young people to maintain local contacts. Also the distance adversely 
impacts on how readily social workers and IROs see children, with excessive 
time taken up with travel. 

60. Placement stability for children looked after is good and almost all are living 
in high-quality placements, in suitable accommodation, that take account of 
the wishes of the children and young people. Overall, children looked after 
are in foster or residential placements that are meeting their needs. Clear 
arrangements are established for managing situations where standards in 
residential or foster placements are not of the level required by the local 

56



 

 

 21 

authority. Arrangements to enable children looked after to remain in 
placements beyond their 18th birthdays are now well established and are 
working well for those young people. 

61. The fostering panel is well established, with diverse representation from a 
range of people, including a former looked after person. New members and a 
new chair were appointed in early 2015 and have received training to 
underpin their role. The panel meets regularly and carries out its core duties 
robustly. Information provided to the panel is of a high standard, with few 
cases being deferred for further information. Social workers and foster carers 
presenting to the panel are consistently able to respond to questions, which 
enables the panel to reach its recommendation immediately. Over the past 
year, appropriate and prompt action has been taken to de-registered foster 
carers in a very small minority of cases. 

62. Foster carers report that they generally feel well supported by the local 
authority and by their supervising social workers. Almost all report that they 
received thorough induction training and were able to access further training, 
or information, to enable them to support the complexity of needs of the 
children and young people they care for. Foster carers are able to raise 
concerns with their supervising social workers and are confident of how to 
escalate these with managers. However, foster carers expressed frustration 
at the frequent changes of social workers that children in their care 
experience, often without notice, and the negative impact that this had on 
the young persons’ willingness to trust or engage with other social workers. 
Foster carers report that often actions or care plans are delayed where social 
workers are temporarily allocated to children. 

63. Foster carers report that they are clear about the plans for children looked 
after and that they are able to contribute to these, particularly through 
children looked after reviews. However, they often do not receive the 
minutes from these reviews until the next review. When they are not able to 
attend, they are not always aware of any changes in the plan or actions 
required from them.  

64. Children looked after who met with inspectors report that they are well 
represented by the Children in Care council and that it enables their voice to 
be heard by the local authority. Those on the council feel that they are 
listened to and are treated with respect. Young people looked after receive 
free passes to the local authority commissioned leisure provision and are 
supported to participate in Duke of Edinburgh programmes and in running a 
football team. Children and young people looked after actively participate in 
the corporate parenting board and are involved in the development of 
information for young people, such as the pledge, the care leavers’ charter 
and health passport. They have undertaken questionnaires with peers to 
gain wider views that influence the work of the corporate parenting panel. 

 

57



 

 

   
 

22 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it is good  

 
65. Adoption is appropriately considered as a permanent option for all children 

who cannot live with their birth family. The local authority is part of Adopt 
Berkshire, a collaborative arrangement with three other neighbouring local 
authorities. The agency decision maker (ADM) arrangements are effective, 
with each local authority participating in a tenure taking responsibility for 
oversight of the panel. The head of service for Wokingham, informed by 
relevant legal and specialist advice, effectively determines all decisions in 
Wokingham children’s cases. Decisions are documented in children’s files 
supported by clear rationales. 

66. Berkshire Adoption Advisory Service (BAAS) administers the adoption panel, 
which serves six local authorities across the county. The panel adviser is the 
service manager for both Berkshire Adoption Advisory Service and Adopt 
Berkshire and provides an effective link between the panel and senior 
managers in the local authority. The adoption panel is chaired well. It meets 
twice a month to avoid any delay and provides effective scrutiny and 
oversight of the approval of adopters and matching recommendations.  

67. The local authority performance against the Department of Education (DfE) 
adoption scorecard of the average time taken from when a child enters care 
to moving in with their adoptive family has deteriorated from the 2011–14 
figure of 600 days to 669 days during 2012–15. This is outside the 
government target of 487. This performance reflects a small number of 
harder to place children, staffing challenges and the transitions 
arrangements to Adopt Berkshire. Performance over the last year has 
significantly improved, with the local authority’s own data demonstrating an 
average time of 425 days. The time between the granting of a placement 
order and children moving to their adoptive family is 92 days. This is 
significantly better than the government target of 121 days, the national 
average of 217 days and statistical neighbours average of 196 days. This 
means children are placed quickly with their new families once a placement 
order has been made. 

68. Decisions not to pursue a plan for adoption are carefully considered and 
timely alternative permanence plans are progressed. Rigorous and effective 
oversight by managers and the adoption agency manager mean that child 
permanence reports (CPRs) help agency family finders to secure the right 
family for a child. The CPRs seen by inspectors were well written and 
provided a good standard of information about the child, their history and 
the circumstances that led them to be considered for adoption. They identify 
the child’s current and potential long-term needs.  

69. Adopt Berkshire recruit, prepare and assess all Wokingham adopters. During 
2014–15, only two of 13 adoption applications were approved within six 
months, with the average length of time from application to approval being 
38.5 weeks. This is well below the national target of six months from 

58



 

 

 23 

application to approval. The majority of these delays were due to the 
individual circumstances of prospective adopters and the transition 
arrangements to Adopt Berkshire. The timeliness of applications during 
2015–16 is improving significantly, with the majority completed within the 
government’s six-month target. Adopt Berkshire actively promotes fostering 
for adoption placements to reduce delay for children. Prospective adopters 
are encouraged to consider this option. Adopt Berkshire has arranged five 
fostering for adoption placements to date including two from a neighbouring 
authority. However, the local authority is not sufficiently promoting 
concurrent placements as a potential option for children locally and 
nationally. 

70. A social enterprise company, sponsored by the DfE and run by adopters, 
provides peer mentoring for prospective adopters through the period of 
assessment to matching. They provide a range of support, which includes 
specialist individual support, therapeutic parenting and group training, which 
continues after approval. Adopters spoke highly of the training and support 
they receive.  

71. The quality of prospective adopters’ reports is good. They are clear, concise, 
and evaluate adopter’s experiences and their suitability to adopt. Adopters 
told inspectors that they found the approval process appropriately 
challenging, it was facilitated by staff who were knowledgeable and reliable 
and supported them sensitively.  

72. Adopt Berkshire has a sufficient number and range of adopters available to 
meet the needs of children with a plan for adoption. Currently, there are 
adopters waiting to be linked to children, which is a national trend. 
Wokingham adopters receive timely referral to the adoption register and 
adoption link. Adopters who are waiting are prepared and supported well. 
This support is enhanced by the agency’s placement officer, who has regular 
contact with adopters both informally and through monthly profile meetings. 
The service is working actively to help adopters to develop their confidence 
in caring for children who are older or who may have needs that are more 
complex. As a result, no children are currently waiting to be linked or placed 
with potential adopters.  

73. Good preparation for children with plans for adoption is in place. Children are 
effectively supported by social workers and foster carers and have access to 
therapeutic support to assist in the transition. This high level of support has 
enabled children with significant complex needs to achieve permanence 
through adoption. Therapeutic life story books and later-life letters are of 
good quality and routinely addressed as part of the reviewing process for all 
children considered for adoption. As a result, children live in adoptive 
placements where their adopters have material available to them to support 
children to make sense of their past experiences. Children’s racial and 
cultural heritage are well considered in plans.  

74. Good post-adoption support is available for both adopters and children to 
ensure the future stability of adoptive families. Adopters confirmed that they 
are aware of the range of services available within the partnership and 59



 

 

   
 

24 

externally. Twelve requests for assessment for post-adoption support 
resulted in all families receiving support services. Four successful applications 
have been made to the adoption support fund for individual specialist 
support packages. There have not been any recent adoption breakdowns. 
Inspectors also saw evidence of good-quality support offered to older young 
people living in Wokingham who had been adopted in other areas. These 
young people benefited from effective help because the authority is informed 
about the needs of adopted children and adopters at all stages in the 
adoption process.  

75. The local authority offer support services to birth parents, with the service 
supporting 13 adults since 2012. Letterbox arrangements are in place for 
over 100 cases and a small of children are supported with ongoing direct 
contact with their birth family. 

 

The graded judgement about the experience and progress of care leavers 
is that it requires improvement  

 
76. The local authority children looked after and care leavers team, Here4U, 

currently works with 29 care leavers. Personal advisers have manageable 
caseloads and work with young people to support them emotionally and to 
secure housing and independence. However, the quality of this support 
varies, with some care leavers not receiving the level of help they need to 
develop independent living skills. As a result, a small number of care leavers 
are not adequately prepared for a successful move to adulthood. Planning 
and progress towards independence is also hindered for some disabled 
young people by a lack of timely coordination and joint planning with adult 
and specialist services.  

77. Personal advisers visit young people in line with statutory requirements, but 
many visits lack purpose and do not meet the young person’s needs. In 
some cases seen by inspectors, young people would benefit from greater 
levels of support through more frequent visiting. Young people themselves 
identified this in a survey conducted by the Children in Care council to 
determine whether the promises set out in the Care Leavers Charter had 
been delivered. Overall, there is insufficient management oversight and the 
standard of service young people receive is too variable.  

78. Care leavers spoken to expressed their frustration about frequent changes of 
social worker, which prevents them from developing trusting relationships. 
Some young people were more positive about the work of their personal 
advisers, with one describing her personal adviser as a ‘rock’. Another care 
leaver was very unhappy with the service received from a succession of 
social workers and said that the service received now, from their personal 
adviser, demonstrated to them what they should have received previously.    

60



 

 

 25 

79. The quality of pathway planning is too variable, with some not sufficiently 
outcome-focused or providing enough detail about who will do what and by 
when. Too many plans are not reviewed according to the changing needs of 
the young person or in line with statutory guidance. As a result, young 
people are not consistently challenged when they make poor choices or 
decisions or when their needs and circumstances change. Plans and reviews 
lack contingency planning and, as a result, personal advisers are not always 
as responsive as they should be to the changing circumstances of young 
people. There is also a lack of independent oversight in reviewing pathway 
plans. The introduction of 16-plus PEPs is, however, a very positive addition 
to the planning pathway for care leavers.  

80. The local authority is in touch with all their care leavers. The vast majority 
live in suitable accommodation and have a good choice of accommodation, 
with the offer of additional help and support from tenancy sustainment 
officers. Young people who met with inspectors advised they felt safe and 
were satisfied with their accommodation. There is no set limit on the number 
of housing offers made to young people through the well-developed 
arrangements with the housing department, which include access to housing 
association and privately rented property. Young people are encouraged to 
remain in their foster placements after their 18th birthday through staying-
put arrangements, which are also available to young people placed with 
independent fostering agencies. Currently, two young people are benefiting 
from this arrangement. At the time of the inspection, no young people were 
homeless or living in bed and breakfast accommodation. 

81. Young people are actively encouraged to pursue healthy lifestyles and to 
address unhealthy choices. Sexual health workers take part in care leavers’ 
events to encourage young people to access services and information is 
provided on health promotion and substance misuse. Personal advisers are 
aware of the risk of child sexual exploitation and of the local authority’s 
procedures for investigating and addressing this risk. The children looked 
after health team undertakes the assessments for those aged 16 and over. 
Young people have the opportunity to discuss their health histories with a 
specialist nurse at their final health assessment. A health passport is 
available to young people and for those who decline the offer the 
information is kept securely until they are ready. However, young people do 
not have timely and effective access to CAMHS and therapeutic services to 
meet their assessed needs. The co-location of a CAMHS worker in the service 
for part of the week is a positive development but has not yet had a 
significant impact and care leavers wait too long for CAMHS services. 

82. The enhanced midwifery and health visiting service supports care leavers 
who are parents or expectant parents and works closely with personal 
advisers. A high number of care leavers are parents (31%); these young 
people are actively encouraged to engage in activities and programmes on 
offer in children’s centres through a special project undertaken this year. 
Children’s centre staff make contact with all care leavers who are parents 
and encourage them to engage in the activities and services on offer. These 
include parenting and support groups and education and training to help 

61



 

 

   
 

26 

young people to plan for their futures. The local authority is actively working 
to increase the support offered to these young people with plans to improve 
the link to Family Nurse Partnership support for care leaver parents. There 
are also plans to develop a targeted positive activity and sports service for 
female care leavers, prioritising care leavers who are mothers. 

83. The local authority football team for care leavers, Here4U United, has been 
particularly successful in engaging young people who had previously 
withdrawn from their personal advisers. Here4U has had a positive impact on 
young people’s health and self-esteem, with young people having secured 
employment or training linked to potential employment opportunities.  

84. Good written information is available to young people to help them 
understand their financial rights and entitlements. Young people spoke 
positively about the ‘pledge’ and the support they receive from the children’s 
rights officer who actively advocates on their behalf. The authority celebrates 
the achievements of young people by running events that included care 
leavers. Young people have access to leisure provision and participate in 
Duke of Edinburgh programmes.  

85. A broad range of well-coordinated support is available to care leavers to help 
them successfully transition to employment, further education or training. 
This includes access to good information, advice and guidance throughout 
the care-leaving transition period.  

86. The destinations of all care leavers are tracked effectively and the majority 
are in education, training or employment. The 10 care leavers who were not 
in education, employment or training (NEET) at the time of inspection were 
continuing to receive support and managers knew their individual, mainly 
challenging, circumstances very well. Although this represents a 
comparatively high proportion of care leavers, inspectors could not identify 
any specific lack of support that had contributed to these young people being 
NEET.  

87. Wokingham has one care leaver apprentice and has set improvement targets 
to employ seven vulnerable young people as apprentices next year. Although 
care leavers form part of this group, none of these planned apprenticeships 
is specifically targeted to help Wokingham care leavers. Apprenticeship 
opportunities are also identified within commissioned services, for example 
six apprenticeships for care leavers working in leisure centres.  

88. Having secured funding through ‘City Deal’ in autumn 2014, the authority’s 
‘Elevate’ initiative has successfully established a much enhanced, easily 
accessible ‘one-stop-shop’ that supports young people into work, education 
or training. Innovative approaches to linking with local employers to develop 
the skills that meet the needs of local employers help improve employment 
prospects.  

89. Links with local colleges and training providers have been established and 
have enabled a range of opportunities for care leavers to develop their work-

62



 

 

 27 

related skills so that they are ready for traineeships, apprenticeships, or 
further education courses. These include work placements with local 
employers, courses that develop work-related skills and a project that 
provides training and support to help young people set up their own 
businesses. One care leaver was on a higher education course. 

90. A notable strength of the local authority is listening to and acting on the 
views of children and young people. Following feedback from care leavers, 
the local authority has funded an additional part-time post to support care 
leavers aged over 21. 

 

  

63



 

 

   
 

28 

Leadership, management and 
governance 

Requires improvement  

Summary 
 
The director of children’s services (DCS) shows strong and tenacious leadership that 
has impacted positively on the service, the local authority and wider partnerships 
since she came into post in February 2014. As well as a clear vision, she holds an 
accurate picture of the service she leads. With the support of her senior leadership 
team, she is driving plans to strengthen the service. A comprehensive annual report 
and updated self-assessment identifies many of the deficits seen in this inspection. 
Good use has been made of findings from external audits and a peer review to help 
target priority areas for improvement. A quality improvement plan with clear 
priorities is in place and is used effectively to monitor and review progress. However, 
these elements of good leadership and governance have not yet secured consistently 
good outcomes in social work practice and frontline management. 
 
The DCS, chief executive and lead member discharge their statutory responsibilities 
effectively and are well known to frontline staff in the service. Partners are confident 
in the DCS, with evidence of police, health, and education working closely together 
to implement the early help model. As a result, a robust early help offer and a ‘front 
door’ to children’s services are in place that effectively assess risk and ensure that 
the needs of children and families are correctly identified and timely services put in 
place. Thresholds for services are clear to agencies and operate effectively. 
 
The local authority has taken significant steps to stabilise its workforce and is able to 
demonstrate success, both in reducing its reliance on the use of agency staff 
significantly and in retaining staff. There is strong multi-agency partnership working 
in relation to children at risk of child sexual abuse and those who go missing and a 
range of policies, procedures and practices in place to minimise that risk. However, 
further work is required to improve the timeliness and take-up of return interviews. 
 
Quality assurance arrangements are under-developed. Internal case audits are not 
demonstrating rigour in judgements about the quality of work carried out. The 
quality and frequency of social work supervision is too variable and not in accord 
with the local authority’s policy standards. As a result, a small number of children 
experience delay in having their needs met. The corporate parenting board is 
ambitious about the service and opportunities provided to children looked after. 
Corporate parenting arrangements are strong, with appropriate challenge to partners 
to improve services for children looked after. The local authority has an established 
Children in Care council and the local authority listens and learns from the 
experiences of children and young people. 
 

 
 
  

64



 

 

 29 

Inspection findings 

91. The DCS shows strong and tenacious leadership that has impacted positively 
on the service, the council and wider partnerships since she came into post 
in February 2014. As well as a clear vision, she holds an accurate picture of 
the service she leads. With the support of her senior leadership team, she is 
driving plans to strengthen the service. A comprehensive annual report and 
updated self-assessment, identifies many of the deficits seen in this 
inspection. Good use has been made of findings from external audits and a 
peer review to help target priority areas for improvement. A quality 
improvement plan with clear priorities is in place, and is used effectively to 
monitor and review progress. However, these elements of good leadership 
and governance have not yet secured consistently good outcomes in social 
work practice, and frontline management. 

92. The local authority has been instrumental in effectively pursuing 
opportunities to secure additional funding through government-funded 
innovations and collaborative working arrangements. The Adopt Berkshire 
and Signs of Safety projects are two positive examples. The practice 
framework underpinned by Signs of Safety is leading to stronger 
assessments with a clearer focus on the voice of the child, reduced caseloads 
and increased parental understanding of what needs to change. Adopt 
Berkshire is showing early indications that children referred to the service are 
being matched to prospective adopters more quickly, reducing delay in 
children securing permanence through adoption. 

93. Performance information is not yet sufficiently developed to provide a clear 
picture of practice and to identify where action needs to be taken to address 
shortfalls. Managers have access to weekly performance information but the 
format of the data does not allow quick assimilation and is not in a user-
friendly format. Some fundamental performance information, which is central 
to frontline practice, is not included – for example, statutory visiting to 
children and the time taken from child protection enquiries to initial child 
protection conference. As a result, managers are not able to fully scrutinise 
the data to ensure that quality is maintained and improved. Monthly 
performance scorecards are tailored to meet the needs of senior managers 
and report on a range of national and local performance information.  

94. Quality assurance arrangements are in the early stages of development. The 
quality assurance framework has the right components for the development 
of a practice-improvement culture but is yet to be sufficiently embedded to 
address the variability in social work practice. A newly formed commissioning 
board, set up in July 2015, provides additional governance to support 
improvement and drive operational priorities to ensure a ‘golden thread’ from 
strategic priorities through to operational delivery. However, it is too early for 
it to have had a measurable impact.  

95. Frontline management oversight is weak in teams where the new practice 
framework has not yet fully established, in particular within the 
neighbourhood teams. Supervision records are of variable quality, with some 
lacking sufficient detail. The regularity of supervision is also insufficient, with 65



 

 

   
 

30 

some significant gaps. Developing and ensuring robust supervision and case 
management oversight and decision-making by first and second line 
managers remains crucial to improving social work practice and outcomes for 
children and young people in Wokingham.  

96. The local authority triangulates performance, intelligence, practice and user 
feedback to establish an accurate self-assessment of practice strengths and 
weaknesses. The internal management audit programme has not robustly 
scrutinised case file audits as set out in the quality assurance framework. As 
a result, core audit activity is not rigorous in its evaluation of the quality of 
social work practice. By contrast, the audits for the purpose of this inspection 
were good, using a comprehensive audit tool and moderation process not in 
place prior to the inspection. Inspectors agreed with the local authority 
judgements and, where deficits in practice were found, appropriate plans 
had been put in place. A further component, the use of quality circles as an 
audit tool, has not been rigorous in its application or resulted in any tangible 
action plans.  

97. A principle social worker and four practice consultants are in post to drive up 
practice standards through the delivery of learning on topics identified from 
audits, complaints, and individual staff appraisals. They also support newly 
qualified social workers in their assessed social work year of education 
(ASYE) and lead the step-up programme. Action plans to drive this work 
forward are not robust and lack specific, measurable actions and targets. As 
a result, learning from this approach is not effective in driving and role-
modelling good practice and securing improvements.  

98. The local authority’s key strategic priorities have been to stabilise the 
workforce and implement a model of change exemplified by the early help 
and innovations programme. Although it is too early to evaluate impact, early 
signs are positive. The pace of change is now gathering momentum to 
ensure that progress achieved is sustainable. However, the legacy of an 
unstable workforce means too many children have experienced serial 
changes of worker, which has negatively affected the quality and consistency 
of practice.  

99. The DCS and elected members are acutely aware of the detrimental impact 
of an unstable work force on the quality of support to children and young 
people. They have worked hard to strengthen the workforce and have placed 
a significant emphasis on being a learning organisation, with regular 
‘stocktakes’, peer reviews, commissioned external audits and themes from 
complaints as sources for practice improvements.  

100. The workforce strategy is comprehensive, ambitious and realistic and has 
been effective in reducing a previous heavy reliance on agency staff. A range 
of strategies, including overseas recruitment, has begun to stabilise the 
workforce and has seen a significant reduction in the previously high 
turnover of staff from 33% in 2013–14 to 14% by March 2015. Information 
on why staff leave is being used to consider barriers to successful 
recruitment and retention. Interim staff of good quality are afforded the 

66



 

 

 31 

same conditions and training opportunities as the permanent workforce. 
Senior managers track social work caseloads weekly, with average caseloads 
being on target at 18. Sickness rates are relatively low.  

101. The management of individual performance is in place with a clear system of 
appraisal to ensure that social workers and managers understand their 
priorities and the expectations of the organisation. The local authority is 
proactive in developing potential social workers through a number of 
different routes – for example, being part of a regional commitment to the 
‘step up to social work’ programme, sponsoring three places at the Open 
University as an alternative pathway to social work qualification and ‘home 
grown’ future managers. Morale is generally good within children’s social 
care, with social workers and managers speaking positively about working 
for Wokingham.  

102. The DCS, chief executive and lead member have a strong presence within 
frontline services, making regular visits to teams and ensuring that they 
meet children and young people to inform and evaluate practice. They have 
a good knowledge of individual children and young people, including high-
profile cases, those in care proceedings and those placed outside of 
Wokingham.  

103. Links between the chief executive, the DCS and the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) Independent Chair are clear, with regular meetings in 
place. The chief executive meets regularly with the LSCB chair and respective 
roles are clear and understood, which helps to ensure that the needs of 
children are effectively prioritised. 

104. Senior managers have developed effective strategies and led their 
implementation, although the full impact is yet to be established. There are 
examples of effective commissioning and re-commissioning of services. 
However, joint commissioning of children’s services with partners is under-
developed. Pooled funding arrangements are not well established, although 
the local authority has agreed development work, key priorities and 
strategies with partners and commissioning actions are being progressed as 
a result. For example, a joint review by the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCG) and local authority of CAMHS has resulted in significant additional 
investment from partners and change in service specification. Partners have 
also developed a joint ‘children with disability strategy’ for approval, but it is 
too early to assess any impact.  

105. The local authority has strengthened its commissioning function over the 
past year and introduced performance monitoring and quality assurance 
functions. A small number of targeted services, such as independent visiting 
and advocacy services, are commissioned. While recent, these are beginning 
to show improved take-up. The local authority commissions bespoke 
packages for individual children and families on an individual needs basis. 
The local authority has reviewed its grants to the community and voluntary 
sector. Several groups that support children and their families have received 
funding to promote key areas, such as awareness of child sexual 

67



 

 

   
 

32 

exploitation, support for disabled children and opportunities for young people 
to act as volunteers in the community. 

106. Most of the key recommendations from the safeguarding and looked after 
children’s inspection (SLAC) 2010 and the child protection inspection in 2012 
have been successfully implemented, although some, such as improving the 
quality of chronologies and stabilising the workforce, continue to be work in 
progress.  

107. Corporate parenting arrangements are strong. The lead member chairs the 
corporate parenting board effectively and has good representation from 
elected members. The board exerts appropriate challenge to partners to 
improve services for children looked after. For example, health reviews for 
children looked after were not sufficiently up to date, which has led to 
significant recent improvement. The children’s scrutiny panel is also active in 
ensuring challenge to senior officers and the lead member.  

108. The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) sets out the priorities for 
children and young people, is aligned with the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and is driven by an active Children’s Partnership. 
Vulnerable children are a high priority, including those who have mental 
health problems and those who are looked after. The Children’s Partnership 
is the sponsor and accountable body for the innovation programme practice 
framework Signs of Safety project in Wokingham and a number of other 
projects linked together under the single brand ‘Wokingham for Children’. As 
a result, an established programme of activities across the full range of 
children’s services is being delivered in partnership.  

109. Partners are committed to working together and have a clear vision for 
improving outcomes for all children in Wokingham. The DCS and partners 
hold one another to account appropriately. There are clear and established 
links with the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), the Children’s Partnership and the LSCB. The DCS is an active 
member of all four.  

110. Wokingham’s levels of need and intervention guidance explains thresholds 
for services clearly and is understood by practitioners and partner agencies. 
A re-focused approach to early help with joined-up early help services, 
delivered through the early help hub provides a range of intervention to 
support children and their families based on assessment of need. 
Arrangements for stepping up from early intervention to statutory 
intervention, or stepping down when needs are reduced, are sound.  

111. There are effective relationships with the Child and Family Court Advisory 
and Support Service (Cafcass), the family courts and the local Family Justice 
Board. This has resulted in improved timescales in private and public law 
proceedings, reducing delay for children and young people.  

112. A strong multi-agency partnership and an agreed child sexual exploitation 
strategy and action plan are in place. Management oversight and assurance 

68



 

 

 33 

are in place through a child sexual exploitation strategic and operational 
governance structure shared jointly and co-chaired between children’s social 
care and the police with regular reporting to the LSCB. Child sexual 
exploitation champions have been developed across every childcare team, 
have received specific training on all issues relating to child sexual 
exploitation and provide effective consultation and guidance to their 
colleagues. Commissioned child sexual exploitation training has been 
comprehensively rolled out across all agencies in the borough, providing 
greater awareness of the many guises and risks of child sexual exploitation.  

113. The local authority has an established Children in Care council that is 
supported by the children’s rights officer. The local authority listens to the 
experiences of children and young people. For example, they have 
established a post for a care leaver over the age of 25, after care leavers 
said they are not always ready to listen to advice and accept help at an 
earlier age.  

114. The local authority collates data relating to complaints and aggregated 
information is fully utilised to inform service developments. It is positive that 
37% of complaints are resolved through the offer of a meeting, enabling 
resolution at an early stage. The response to individual complaints is timely, 
with the children’s rights officer sensitively supporting children and young 
people.   

 
 

69



 

 

   
 

34 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board requires improvement  

 

Executive summary 

 
The Local Children’s Safeguarding Board in Wokingham requires improvement to be 
good. Wokingham’s Local Safeguarding Children Board complies with its statutory 
responsibilities and the requirements of ‘Working Together 2015’. The chair of the 
Board and its members work closely together. The Board has a number of joint 
working arrangements with other LSCBs across Berkshire and exercises robust 
oversight of that work. The Board has been able to demonstrate a range of 
improvements since the chair was appointed in October 2014, but there is further 
work to do in order for the board to have a consistent overview of practice and 
practice developments in safeguarding across Wokingham.  
 
The LSCB business plan does not adequately reflect all the work of the Board and 
progress made in its priorities. The plan’s lack of inclusion of the partnership adopted 
‘Signs of Safety’ model, intended to enhance safeguarding practice across 
Wokingham, reflects a weakness in governance arrangements, with the Board poorly 
represented at both the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Partnership 
Board. This challenges the LSCB’s ability to influence and set agendas and secure a 
complete overview of safeguarding developments. Multi-agency training for staff is 
poorly evaluated for its impact on practice and improving outcomes. As a result, the 
Board cannot determine whether training offered is as effective as it should be. 
 
The Board, however, is able to demonstrate a range of purposeful activity. This 
includes a wide range of multi-agency audits seeking to evaluate practice and from 
which there is a comprehensive action plan designed to improve partners’ practice 
and safeguarding in Wokingham. The Board is active in ensuring that there is a 
partner-wide understanding of child sexual exploitation and that there are processes 
and policies in place that ensure that need and risk are recognised and appropriate 
services offered including early help interventions. 
 
The Board has a willingness to challenge poor services and can evidence 
improvements as a result. The Board focused on key areas of concern such as 
domestic abuse, early help and child sexual abuse. It has assured itself of individual 
agencies’ understanding of these issues and how their services work to offer help 
and reduce risk through a series of multi-agency challenge days. The Board has 
ensured agency compliance with safeguarding policies and procedures through 
section 11 audits. 
 
The Board has been able to work closely with young people, including those most 
vulnerable, identifying issues of concern to them in Wokingham. As a result, reducing 
bullying is now designated as an LSCB priority. The Board has issued a pledge to 
young people to use its influence to improve how they are heard and the responses 
they receive. Two young commissioners attend the Board to ensure that young 

70



 

 

 35 

people’s voices are heard.      

 

Recommendations 

 
115. Review the LSCB business plan to ensure that it contains sufficient detail in 

relation to its priorities and their progress against clearly identified 
timescales. The plan should also include explicit reference to Signs of Safety 
and its implementation across the partnership (page 38, paragraph 119). 

116. Ensure that its program of multi-agency training is subject to long-term 
evaluation of its impact on practice and outcomes (page 39, paragraph 123). 

117. Ensure that the assessment of training needs from agencies is robust and to 
also include information from long-term evaluation to better enable the 
board to commission future training needs (page 39, paragraph 123). 

118. Ensure that there is an appropriate pathway from the LSCB to both the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Partnership in order to 
maximise the ability of the Board to influence strategic priorities and ensure 
that the Board’s priorities and concerns are heard and considered (page 38, 
paragraph 121).        

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

119. The LSCB complies with its statutory responsibilities as defined in ‘Working 
together 2015’. The Board is appropriately constituted and has the further 
benefit of two young commissioners attending relevant meetings. The Board 
has been revitalised since the appointment of a new chair in October 2014 
and is now on an improving trajectory. Arrangements for conducting the 
Board’s business are complicated by four out the eight board sub-groups 
covering multiple local authorities across Berkshire. In some instances, this 
allows Wokingham to benefit from wider learning and a greater range of 
professional inputs. However, the learning and development sub-group has 
struggled to function across six local authorities. The chair of the LSCB is 
also chair of two other Berkshire LSCBs and this has allowed her to 
undertake some rationalisation of the Board structure, reducing the learning 
and development sub-group’s coverage to three LSCBs and focusing the 
quality and assurance sub-group on Wokingham only. Sub-group chairs are 
from a range of partner agencies, demonstrating cross-agency commitment 
to the Board’s management and functioning. The Board has one current lay 
member and a recent vacancy from July for a second lay member.   

120. The LSCB has set out a business plan for 2015–16 that identifies five key and 
appropriate priorities. However, in a number of areas, these are insufficiently 
detailed, with aspirational rather than quantifiable aims. For example, in 
relation to the child sexual exploitation, there is no measure to assess the 
effectiveness of the communication priority. There is insufficient detail in 
relation to the child sexual exploitation priority within the business plan. The 
child sexual exploitation strategic plan and action plan are not attached. This 
limits the business plan’s usefulness. The business plan’s stated aim of use is 

71



 

 

   
 

36 

as a tool by frontline staff and managers. However, there is insufficient 
information and detail in the plan to assist this group in meeting the priorities 
of the Board. This is further compounded by a lack of a progress and rag-
rated section for all the priorities.  

121. The plan does not identify Signs of Safety as a key priority for the Board or 
the need for the Board to have a demonstrable overview of its rollout across 
agencies. The Board priorities were established based on need prior to the 
programme launch, however, the Board should review the plan to set out 
clearly how the programme will support delivery of key objectives – for 
example, identification of domestic abuse and associated risk and enhanced 
numbers of children and parents who say they have been listened to. The 
LSCB has undertaken a challenge session to consider the impact of the 
model on the learning and development of staff and gathered some other 
information about activity and impact of services using this model. However, 
there remains a significant gap in not establishing more formal reporting and 
governance procedures on the progress of the implementation to the Board 
from the Children’s Partnership.  

122. Governance arrangements to ensure that partners, such as the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Partnership, are able to assess whether 
they are fulfilling their responsibilities to help, protect and care for young 
people are challenged by a lack of appropriate representation from the LSCB 
on these bodies. The LSCB chair only attends the Health and Wellbeing 
Board annually and there has been a recent change in LSCB representation 
on the Children’s Partnership Board with the business manager being 
prioritised away from Partnership attendance. LSCB members do sit on the 
Partnership from across statutory partnership agencies and understand the 
dual role they perform. Although Wokingham is a relatively small local 
authority, where partners know each other well, it is important that there are 
clearly identified formal pathways enabling the LSCB to influence priorities 
and actions. Currently, some of these are informal and undefined, potentially 
limiting the Board’s effectiveness in this area. For example, the lack of formal 
pathways to underpin the current representation on the Children’s 
Partnership board, which is responsible for Signs of Safety rollout, further 
limits the LSCB’s overview of this area of safeguarding development.  

123. The LSCB has a training improvement programme overseen by the learning 
and development sub-group, a joint sub-group covering three local authority 
areas across the county. It ran 22 courses in 2014–15, with 355 candidates 
attending and two e-learning courses: one on universal safeguarding and the 
second on child sexual exploitation. The completion rate of both courses was 
poor at 21% (73 out of 337 for the child sexual exploitation course). Reasons 
for the high drop-out rate have been analysed and indicate poor course 
design. Other well-designed training was offered, including e-learning and 
Lottie. The Board recognises that significant further development is 
necessary in order to assure itself that staff are being supported and 
equipped to respond effectively to safeguarding and protection needs. The 
annual training needs assessment to inform future training planning is under-
developed with insufficiently assessed information on future training needs 

72



 

 

 37 

obtained from partners by ad-hoc means such as e-mail and phone, rather 
than a more detailed and planned approach to assessment. Partners have 
been asked to complete a written needs assessment for 2016–17, although 
not to a common template. 

124. The LSCB has not yet ensured that it is able to fully evaluate the 
effectiveness of multi-agency training and its impact on practice. Evaluation 
of training courses is under-developed and apart from those courses hosted 
by another local authority, little or no evaluation of impact on a medium- or 
long-term basis is undertaken. Immediate evaluation provides insufficient 
analysis of course usefulness and none on impact on practice and outcomes. 
The Board has recognised this deficit and is taking steps to ensure that 
longer-term impact information will be available to it during 2016.  

125. The LSCB has undertaken work in relation to the understanding of thresholds 
for service among partner agencies. It has ensured that a revised LSCB 
‘levels of mandated need’ document, that included Signs of Safety, was 
disseminated to partner agencies and published in January 2015. The Board 
successfully conducted an early help challenge session in March 2015. This 
looked at thresholds and levels of need and the ability of services to 
evidence outcomes as a result of early help services being provided. It also 
commissioned an external audit to satisfy itself on the use of thresholds. This 
confirmed that the application of thresholds in relation to early help referrals 
to social care was working properly. 

126. The Board has been active in seeking to improve services to children at risk 
of child sexual exploitation and those who go missing. It has set out a well-
structured child sexual exploitation strategic plan for 2015–17. A robust 
action plan is in place that is regularly updated and reviewed for progress 
and overseen by the strategic child sexual exploitation sub-group. Chelsea’s 
Choice, a theatre production on child sexual exploitation, has been made 
available to all schools and Lottie training (professional training on child 
sexual exploitation and online grooming) has been provided to the 
safeguarding leads at all schools. Child sexual exploitation was the subject of 
a multi-agency challenge session led by the LSCB in September 2015. This 
enabled the Board to monitor and evaluate progress and the effectiveness of 
services to young people at risk of both child sexual exploitation and missing. 
Although some work has been undertaken with businesses that young 
people might come into contact with, such as pharmacists, the Board 
recognises that further work is required in relation to hotels and taxis in 
particular. It has also identified that while the move to an independent 
agency undertaking return home interviews is positive, further work is 
required to ensure that information from those interviews is collated and 
analysed. The Board is aware of child sexual exploitation incidents in 
Wokingham. It has facilitated a day to raise awareness about child sexual 
exploitation and to help professionals reflect on whether they are fully 
considering the likelihood of child sexual exploitation in their work with 
children. The chair also hosted an assurance exercise on culture and 
behaviours in May 2015, in relation to child sexual exploitation and was able 

73



 

 

   
 

38 

as a result to assure herself that children were safer in Wokingham as a 
result of a rising level of awareness and work done by partners. 

127. There is regular monitoring of multi-agency frontline practice. The LSCB has 
initiated an extensive program of commissioned audit activity. These include 
a review of transition arrangements, a review of the early help and children’s 
services interface, a review of mental health practice, partnership working 
and children in need cases. While some have included detailed information 
and analysis, others have not measured impact and outcomes of practice. 
They have been useful in identifying individual casework issues but have not 
provided sufficient analysis. As a result, learning for the LSCB and individual 
agencies has been more limited than it could have been. The Board has 
recognised this and this has led to the production of a quality improvement 
plan, which identifies some core areas of practice for further scrutiny and 
improvement. Actions from this plan are detailed and regularly reviewed by 
the Board for progress. The LSCB has also received a number of single-
agency audits, some of which it has identified as lacking in information and 
analysis and which it has asked to be re-done, demonstrating challenge to 
individual agencies.  

128. The Board has ensured that there is a programme of section 11 audits on a 
three-yearly basis with mid-term reviews. The Board has challenged audits 
that have not met an appropriate standard, for example asking the central 
ambulance service for further information and a re-presentation to the 
section 11 sub-group.   

129. The LSCB has initiated a series of ‘challenge’ sessions for partners on early 
help, child sexual exploitation, domestic abuse and learning and 
development. This has enabled it to inform itself about agency compliance of 
policy and process as well as practice and whether practice is making a 
difference. These are a valuable opportunity for the Board to assure itself of 
agency understanding and activity in relation to safeguarding issues and 
encourage challenge from partners.   

130. The LSCB has a local learning and improvement framework with statutory 
partners, including procedures for serious case reviews (SCRs) and multi-
agency and single-agency learning reviews overseen by an active SCR sub-
group. Although there have been no recent SCRs, the Board has conducted 
two case-management reviews in 2014–15, with detailed multi-agency action 
plans arising. It has ensured that lessons learned have been disseminated 
through multi-agency practitioner sessions. Wider learning from SCRs is 
included in the LSCB training offer across a range of courses, including those 
concerning domestic abuse and neglect.  

131. The child death overview panel covers the whole of the county but is able to 
provide the Wokingham LSCB with a local perspective. The panel is able to 
identify trends and is active in promotion of issues to improve awareness, 
including, currently, the risks associated with asthma.  

74



 

 

 39 

132. The LSCB has a concerns log and can evidence effective challenge to 
partners. For example, it includes challenge to both health and social care to 
improve the timeliness of health assessments for children in care and 
attendance by the police and GPs at child protection conferences. Both have 
resulted in improvements to practice, including ensuring police attendance at 
conferences and an increase in reports to conferences by GPs. 

133. The Board has engaged with young people and now has two young 
commissioners attending the board on a regular basis to contribute views 
and ideas. The Board also organised a day in August 2015 with young people 
who had been or were in care, or being supported by the targeted youth 
service. They identified bullying as a major concern and this has 
subsequently become an LSCB priority. As a result of this engagement, the 
Board is in the process of publishing a pledge to young people that includes 
promoting assurance and resilience, enabling members to hear and 
understand the voices of young people.  

134. The annual report of the Wokingham LSCB provides a clear account of the 
working of the Board and its sub-groups in language that makes it accessible 
to a wider audience. The report from the quality and performance sub-group 
lacks detail on issues identified in audit activity. However, the report includes 
a section on challenges raised, together with the concerns log of the board 
providing information on issues that require further progress. This helps to 
ensure that the report is relevant and provides an account of safeguarding 
practice across Wokingham.  

 

 

 

75



 

 

   
 

40 

Information about this inspection 

Inspectors looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who have 
needed or still need help and/or protection. This also includes children and young 
people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and starting 
their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference adults make to the lives 
of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition, the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people who it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the local safeguarding children board under its power to combine reports in 
accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The inspection team consisted of six of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) and an 
additional inspector. 

The inspection team 

Lead inspector: Linda Steele HMI 

Deputy lead inspector: Peter McEntee HMI 

Team inspectors: Brenda Mclaughlin HMI, Pietro Battista HMI, Ali Mekki HMI, Mark 
Shackleton HMI and Michael McCracken additional inspector 
 
Shadow inspectors: Margaret Burke Designated HMI 
 
Senior data analyst: Stewart Hartshorne 

Quality assurance manager: Pauline Turner SHMI

76



 

 

 41 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted, which is available from Ofsted’s 

website: www.ofsted.gov.uk. If you would like Ofsted to send you a copy of the guidance, please 

telephone 0300123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 

achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 
all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children's social care, and inspects the Children and 

Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, 
workbased learning and skills training, adult and community learning, and education and training in 

prisons and other secure establishments. It inspects services for looked after children and child 

protection. 
 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 
telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 
You may copy all or parts of this document for non-commercial educational purposes, as long as you 

give details of the source and date of publication and do not alter the information in any way. 

 
To receive regular email alerts about new publications please visit our website and go to ‘Subscribe’. 

 
Piccadilly Gate 

Store St 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T: 0300 123 4234 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
W:  

© Crown copyright 2015 

77

http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and 
care leavers 
 
 

Final signed off 8/2/16 
Owners: Brian Grady and Felicity Budgen 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

1a Supervision 
and supervision to all 
staff to ensure that they 
are regular, reflective 
and challenging and 
focused on  

Complete redesign of supervision 
framework 

AH/JR February 2016 

Launch new supervision framework 
across all teams  
 

AH/JR March 2016 

Schedule supervision training and 
ensure full attendance. 

FB March 2016 

Create and report new KPI to capture 
assurance that supervision is taking 
place 
 

BG March 2016 

Monitor and ensure monthly 
supervisions occur 

FB From December 2015 

Audit frequency and quality of 
supervision and impact for the child. 

BG June/ September/ December 
2016 

Group supervision to be convened in 
every team. 
February – 2 x month 
March onwards – 4 x month 
 

FB February – March 2016 

1b Management  
Monitor and improve the 
frequency and quality of 
management oversight 

Co-produce quality standards for team 
managers – what does good look like. 
 

FB 
 
 
 

February 2016 
 
 
 

79



2 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

and ensuring good 
outcomes for children 
with rationale for 
decisions made clearly 
recorded 

Agree provider to offer training to 
managers. 

BG/FB February 2016 

Schedule module of training which 
includes oversight, decision making 
and recording. 

BG/FB March/April 2016 

Test impact and assure that 
improvements made in recording 
decisions and oversight. 

BG June 2016 

2 Quality of Practice 
Improve the quality of 
casework audits, 
practice development 
tools and performance 
management 
information. Ensure that 
it is used effectively by 
managers to improve 
the quality of social work 
practice 

Refresh the QA framework – including 
Moderation Panel, consideration of 
absent significant adults, reflection of 
equality and diversity factors and 
management of oversight and 
implementation of any practice review. 
 

BG February 2016 

Agree the audit practice tools and 
process standard within commissioning 
unit in accordance with the revised QA 
framework. 

 
 

BG February 2016 

Schedule and deliver training sessions 
to equip managers to complete audits 
to standard. 
 

BG/SM February/ March 2016 -  #1 
June 2016 - #2 

Social work service to complete 
practice audits consistently to agreed 
standard for moderation panel. 
 

FB February/March/ June/ July 2016 

80



3 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

Moderation panel to assess the quality 
of the audit and its impact for children.  
Moderation panel confirms security of 
process and practice to CSLT through 
LSCB final reporting. 
 

BG April 2016 

Agree thematic audit schedule 2016/17 BG March 2016 

Adopt and launch MTM audit tools 
when complete for thematic audit 

BG/FB June 16 

Review KPI suite and extend to include 
statutory visits and supervision. 

BG March 2016 

Improve ICT to enable Service and 
Team  Managers to use Management 
Information easily 

BG February 2016 

Offer training to Service Managers and 
Team Managers regarding use of 
management information. 

BG January 2016 

3 Accelerate the 
implementation of the 
joint local authority and 
clinical commissioning 
group emotional health 
strategy to ensure better 
and quicker access to 
emotional and mental 
health support for 
children and young 
people 

Jointly commission counselling 
services with CCG.  

BG January 2016 

HWB to review timelines currently in 
the strategy. 

JR March 2016 

Set up Task and Finish group to 
prioritise children who are in need now. 
 

FB February – March 2016 

Agree revised process to ensure better 
and quicker access to health support 
for children and young people. 
 

FB March 2016 

Test 6 month impact based on CCG BG September 2016 

81



4 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

and LA monitoring data. 
 

Established named LA children’s 
commissioner regarding managing 
interface for payment agreements 
LA/CCG regarding emotional 
wellbeing. 
 

BG February 2016 

4 With partners, ensure 
that there is an effective 
integrated service 
pathway for all children 
and for young people in 
transition 

Implement the Transition Improvement 
Plan 

FB/LMCF 
 

June 2016 

Midway progress reporting to ensure 
impact and change. 

FB April 2016 

CCG to identify the capacity to deliver 
on Children with Disabilities Strategy 
including transition improvement plan 
actions.  

GA/BG March 2016 

Create clear accountability line to 
HWB. 

JR March 2016 

5 Improve the quality of 
assessments and plans 
(absent significant 
adults, good analysis 
risk and protective 
factors eg diversity. 

100% staff to have received 5 day SoS 
training. 

BG/FB 
 

April 2016 

Practice Framework training for 
2016/17 to be agreed and launched 

BG March 2016 

Ensure attendance at Practice 
Framework training 2016-17 

FB Bi-monthly monitor from May 
2016 

FWi to be Signs of Safety compliant. BG April 2016 

82



5 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

Policies and procedures to be Signs of 
Safety compliant. 

BG April 2016 

Agree monthly reporting by team 
managers and change to demonstrate 
implementation of Practice Framework 
and impact. 

FB/BG March 2016 

Social work service to ensure impact 
and demonstrate this via 
Commissioning Board. 

FB April 2016 

6 Put in place a pre-birth 
protocol and improve 
the assessment of 
vulnerable unborn 
babies and their families 

Complete an audit of pregnant women 
in the system to assure standard 
practice. 
 

BG January 2016 

Initial awareness to be deleted FB January 2016 

Assessment model to be adopted and 
endorsed from MTM 
 

FB March 2016 

Pre-birth protocol and assessment 
training to be implemented and applied 
to every social worker.   
 

FB April 2016 

ICT changes in FWi to be in place by 
end of March in time for staff. 
 

BG January 2016 

LSCB to be asked to scrutinise 
potential delays in referral.  RBH to 
account to the LSCB in March. 

JR April 2016 

83



6 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

 

Agree, adopt and launch protocol and 
ensure it is aligned with Pan Berkshire 
LCSB procedures. 
 
 

FB March 2016 

Audit impact of changes and 
improvements in practice and for 
children. 

BG April 2016 

7 Ensure that when a child 
goes missing from home 
or care, a timely return 
visit is completed and 
information from 
interviews is collated 
and analysed to inform 
service delivery 

Review the provider arrangements to 
assure ourselves that they have 
sufficient capacity to deliver.  
 
 

BG February 2016 

Ensure the provider introduces 
proactive models of engagement 
(including engagement to parent). 
 

BG February 2016 

Weekly monitoring and proactive 
management of arrangements to 
ensure timely response. 
 

FB From February 2016 

Audit activity to be conducted quarterly 
and included in the current quarterly 
reports to LSCB. 
 

BG From March 2016 

Establish quarterly reporting cycle: 
LSCB, CPB etc (an increase from 
previous six monthly) 

BG January 2016 

84



7 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

8 Ensure that strategy 
discussions include all 
relevant agencies 

Implement training to ensure newly 
created quality standards are 
embedded and result in improved 
strategy discussions. 
                   

FB 
 
 
 
 

 January 2016 
 
 
 
 

Audit impact and improvements BG April 2016 

9 Ensure that children 
looked after can contact 
their social workers and 
that they receive prompt 
response to contacts 

Ensure that every LAC is given contact 
details of their social worker 
 

FB February 2016 

Team Managers to ensure prompt 
response to messages from children. 
(Cross reference quality standards for 
team managers). 
 

FB From January 2016 

Monthly monitoring of the consistency 
of the allocation of social worker to CiC 

FB From January 2016 

10 Ensure that early 
permanence planning is 
in place for all children 

Review impact of permanency panel 
quarterly to ensure improved timelines 
of permanency planning 
 

FB From March 2016 

Extend Terms of Reference to include 
SGO 

 

FB From January 2016 

Prioritise Permanency Planning at 
Social Worker Development Day 

 

FB March 2016 

Team Managers to show visible 
ownership of impact on progress via 
Commissioning Board. 

 

FB From February 2016 

85



8 

 

No OFSTED 
RECOMMENDATION 

Milestones LEAD Deadline for delivery 

Permanence planning work to be built 
into social workers induction 

 

BG April 2016 

11 Ensure that care plans 
and actions agreed at 
reviews for children 
looked after are 
promptly disseminated 
and carried out and that 
work with partner 
agencies is effectively 
coordinated by social 
workers and their 
managers 

KPI to include timeliness of 
dissemination of Care Plans after LAC 
review. 

BG February 2016 

Quality Assurance unit to take 
ownership of distribution of care 
plans/LAC reviews? 
 

FB January 2016 

Health needs on time 
 

FB January 2016 

CAMHS assessment and treatment on 
time. 

FB January 2016 

12 Improve the quality of 
services to care leavers 
by ensuring that (visits 
to care leavers are 
purposeful and visiting 
frequency is according 
to their individual needs 
and care leavers have 
access to opportunities 
to gain good quality 
independence skills 

Team Managers to report on 
implementation and impact on SoS 
through Commissioning Board. 
 

BG From March 2016 

Commissioning Team to complete a 
skills audit for Care Leavers and 
establish appropriate training 

BG March 2016 

Audit practice change and impact 
quarterly. 

BG 
 

March 2016 

 

86



CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

2016/ 2017 WORK PROGRAMME - TBC 

 

 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER / 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

     

23 Feb 
2016 

Delivering Effective 
Safeguarding 
Services 

To receive a regular update including: 

 an update on the recruitment and retention 
strategy. 

 

Standing item to 
monitor safeguarding 
services 

 

Head of Social 
Care and 
Intervention/ 
 

 Children’s Services 
Performance 
Indicators 

To receive an update and monitor Children’s 
Services performance measured by local indicators  
 

Standing Item 
To enable the 
Committee to assess 
performance and 
identify areas of 
concern 

Children’s 
Services 
Performance & 
Information 
Team 

 School Performance 
Indicators and Ofsted 
reports, School 
Improvement 

To receive information on schools’ performance, and 
to review recent Ofsted Reports 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Head of 
Learning & 
Achievement 

87

A
genda Item

 79.



 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER / 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

 Ofsted Findings To receive a report containing the Ofsted finding 
following the recent inspection to WBC Children’s 
Services  

To enable the 
Committee to 
assess the results 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

 Children’s Services O 
and S Committee 
Forward Programme 

To consider the forward programme of the 
Committee 

Standing Item Democratic 
Services 

     

23 June Delivering Effective 
Safeguarding 
Services 

 Standing item to 
monitor 
safeguarding 
services 

Head of Social 
Care and 
Intervention 

 Children’s Services 
Performance 
Indicators 

To receive an update and monitor Children’s 
Services performance measured by local indicators 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Children’s 
Services 
Performance & 
Information 
Team 

 School Performance 
Indicators and Ofsted 
reports, School 
Improvement 

To receive information on schools’ performance, and 
to review recent Ofsted Reports 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Head of 
Learning & 
Achievement 

88



 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER / 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

 Children’s Services O 
and S Forward 
Programme 

To consider the forward programme of the 
committee 

Standing item Democratic 
Services 

     

13 
September 

Delivering Effective 
Safeguarding 
Services 

 Standing item to 
monitor 
safeguarding 
services 

Head of Social 
Care and 
Intervention 

 Children’s Services 
Performance 
Indicators 

To receive an update and monitor Children’s 
Services performance measured by local indicators 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Children’s 
Services 
Performance & 
Information 
Team 

 School Performance 
Indicators and Ofsted 
reports, School 
Improvement 

To receive information on schools’ performance, and 
to review recent Ofsted Reports 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Head of 
Learning & 
Achievement 

89



 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER / 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

 Children’s Services O 
and S Committee 
Forward Programme 

To consider the forward programme of the 
Committee 
 
 
 

Standing Item Democratic 
Services 

     

15 
November 

Delivering Effective 
Safeguarding 
Services 

 Standing item to 
monitor 
safeguarding 
services 

Head of Social 
Care and 
Intervention 

 Children’s Services 
Performance 
Indicators 

To receive an update and monitor Children’s 
Services performance measured by local indicators 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Children’s 
Services 
Performance & 
Information 
Team 

 School Performance 
Indicators and Ofsted 
reports, School 
Improvement 

To receive information on schools’ performance, and 
to review recent Ofsted Reports 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Head of 
Learning & 
Achievement 

90



 
DATE OF 
MEETING 

 
ITEM 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
REASON FOR 
CONSIDERATION 
 

 
RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER / 
CONTACT 
OFFICER 

 Children’s Services O 
and S Committee 
Forward Programme 

To consider the forward programme of the 
Committee 

Standing item Democratic 
Services 

     

21 March Delivering Effective 
Safeguarding 
Services 

 Standing item to 
monitor 
safeguarding 
services 

Head of Social 
Care and 
Intervention 

 Children’s Services 
Performance 
Indicators 

To receive an update and monitor Children’s 
Services performance measured by local indicators 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Children’s 
Services 
Performance & 
Information 
Team 

 School Performance 
Indicators and Ofsted 
reports, School 
Improvement 

To receive information on schools’ performance, and 
to review recent Ofsted Reports 

Standing item to 
enable the 
Committee to 
assess performance 
and identify areas of 
concern 

Head of 
Learning & 
Achievement 

 Children’s Services O 
and S Committee 
Forward Programme 

To consider the forward programme of the 
Committee 

Standing item Democratic 
Services 

 

91



Possible items: 
 Early Years Help and Innovations programme; 
 MASH Update; 
 CAHMS; 
 Special Needs and Disabilities Strategy; 
 CPB Annual report; 
 Wokingham Safeguarding Children’s Board annual report; 
 Recruitment and retention Strategy; 
 Children’s Social Care annual review; 
 School Improvement – narrowing the gap; 

 

92



 

  
 

TITLE Analysis of Staffing Figures for Social Care & 
Inclusion 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Children’s 

Services on 23rd February 2016 
  
WARD Non Specific 
  
DIRECTOR Judith Ramsden, Director of Children’s Services  
 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
 
The report sets out the current position of Children’s Social Care staffing, the impact of 
the recruitment and retention strategy. 
  

RECOMMENDATION 
 
To note the report. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

93

Agenda Item 80.



 

 
 
 

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 

None 

 

Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services, 
including properties and priorities?) 

None 

 

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2 

Comparison of staffing figures 

 

List of Background Papers 

Quarter 3 2015/16 Staffing Analysis 

 

Contact  Felicity Budgen Service  Children’s Service 

Telephone No  0118 974 6480 Email  felicity.budgen@wokingham.gov.uk 

Date  23rd February 2016 Version No.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

94



Document is Restricted

95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	72. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	76. Children's Services Performance Indicators
	Children's Services Performance Indicators App 1

	77. Children's Services Performance and Management Information
	Annex A - Ofsted Positives and Negatives Mapping to KPIs - NH edit 2

	78. Ofsted Findings
	053_Single inspection of LA children's services and review of the LSCB as pdf
	Overview and Scrutiny report - Ofsted Inspection Action Plan

	79. Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Forward Programme
	80. Delivering Effective Safeguarding Services
	Recruitment and Retention Strategy Staffing Analysis


